



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

J. Differential Equations 216 (2005) 282-323

Journal of Differential Equations

www.elsevier.com/locate/jde

# Symmetry breaking for toral actions in simple mechanical systems

Petre Birtea<sup>a</sup>, Mircea Puta<sup>a</sup>, Tudor S. Ratiu<sup>b,\*</sup>, Răzvan Tudoran<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Departamentul de Matematică, Universitatea de Vest, RO-1900 Timișoara, Romania <sup>b</sup>Section de mathématiques, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, CH-1015 Lausanne, Switzerland

Received 5 December 2003; revised 2 June 2005

#### Abstract

For simple mechanical systems, bifurcating branches of relative equilibria with breaking symmetry from a given set of relative equilibria with toral symmetry are found. Lyapunov stability conditions along these branches are given.

© 2005 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

#### **Contents**

1.	Intro	duction	. 283
2.	Lagr	angian mechanical systems	.286
	2.1.	Lagrangian mechanical systems with symmetry	. 286
	2.2.	Simple mechanical systems	. 287
	2.3.	Simple mechanical systems with symmetry	.288
3.	Relative equilibria		.289
	3.1.	Basic definitions and concepts	.289
	3.2.	Relative equilibria in Hamiltonian G-systems	. 290
	3.3.	Relative equilibria in simple mechanical G-systems	.291
4.	Some	e basic results from the theory of Lie group actions	.291

*E-mail addresses:* birtea@geometry.uvt.ro (P. Birtea), puta@geometry.uvt.ro (M. Puta), tudor.ratiu@epfl.ch (T.S. Ratiu), razvan.tudoran@epfl.ch (R. Tudoran).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

	4.1.	Maximal tori	. 291		
	4.2.	Twisted products	. 292		
	4.3.	Slices	. 292		
	4.4.	Type submanifolds and fixed point subspaces	. 293		
5.	Regularization of the amended potential criterion				
	5.1.	The bifurcation problem	. 295		
		Splittings			
		The rescaled equation			
		The Lyapunov–Schmidt procedure			
	5.5.	The bifurcation equation	.302		
	5.6.	A simplified version of the amended potential criterion	.307		
		The study of two auxiliary functions			
		Bifurcating branches of relative equilibria with trivial symmetry			
6.	Stab	ility of the bifurcating branches of relative equilibria	.317		
7.	Bifu	reating branches of relative equilibria with non-trivial isotropy	.319		
	7.1.	Modifications in the Lyapunov–Schmidt procedure	.319		
	7.2.	Bifurcating branches of relative equilibria with non-trivial symmetry	.321		
Ac	Acknowledgments				
	Deferences				

#### 1. Introduction

This paper investigates the problem of symmetry breaking in the context of simple mechanical systems with compact symmetry Lie group G of dimension at least one. By symmetry we always understand continuous symmetry. We shall obtain two types of symmetry breaking results depending on whether the principal stratum of the G-action on the configuration manifold Q is associated to the trivial subgroup  $\{e\}$  or to some non-trivial closed subgroup H of G.

In the first case, every point of the principal G-stratum in Q has trivial isotropy. Because of this simplifying assumption, the symmetry breaking phenomenon can be analyzed in great detail. Let  $\mathbb{T}$  be a maximal torus of G whose Lie algebra is denoted by  $\mathbb{T}$ . Let  $q_e \in Q$  be a given point with non-trivial symmetry subgroup  $G_{q_e} \neq \{e\}$ , dim  $G_{q_e} \geqslant 1$ , and assume that  $G_{q_e} \subseteq \mathbb{T}$ . We shall make the hypothesis that the values of the infinitesimal generators of elements in  $\mathbb{T}$  are all relative equilibria of the given mechanical system. These relative equilibria form a vector subspace of  $T_{q_e}Q$ , which will be denoted by  $\mathbb{T} \cdot q_e$ . As will be shown, every relative equilibrium in this subspace has symmetry equal to  $G_{q_e}$ . The main result of the first part of the paper gives sufficient conditions that insure the existence of points in this subspace  $\mathbb{T} \cdot q_e$  from which symmetry breaking branches of relative equilibria with trivial symmetry will emerge. In addition, sufficient Lyapunov stability conditions along these branches will be given if the symmetry group G equals the torus  $\mathbb{T}$ .

To prove this symmetry breaking result one has to proceed in a somewhat nonconventional manner. One of the main difficulties is that the points of bifurcation in the subspace  $t \cdot q_e \subset T_{q_e}Q$  are not known a priori so one cannot begin a standard bifurcation theoretical investigation at a given relative equilibrium. To circumvent this problem the following strategy is adopted. Denote by g the Lie algebra of G and let  $g^*$ be its dual. Take a regular element  $\mu \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  which happens to be the momentum value of some relative equilibrium defined by an element of t. Recall that  $\mu$  is regular if the coadjoint orbit through  $\mu$  is maximal dimensional. Choose a one parameter perturbation  $\beta(\tau, \mu) \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  of  $\mu$ ,  $\beta(0, \mu) = \mu$ , that lies in the set of regular points of  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ , for small values of the parameter  $\tau > 0$ . Consider the  $G_{q_e}$ -representation on the tangent space  $T_{q_e}Q$ . Let  $v_{q_e}$  be an element in the principal stratum of this representation and also in the normal space to the tangent space at  $q_e$  to the orbit  $G \cdot q_e$ . Assume that its norm is small enough in order for  $v_{q_e}$  to lie in the open ball centered at the origin  $0_{q_e} \in$  $T_{q_e}Q$  where the Riemannian exponential map Exp :  $TQ \rightarrow Q$  is a diffeomorphism. The curve  $\tau v_{q_e}$  projects by the exponential map to a curve  $q_e(\tau) = \text{Exp}(\tau v_{q_e})$  that lies in a neighborhood of  $q_e$  in Q and whose value at  $\tau = 0$  is  $q_e$ . We search for relative equilibria in TQ, starting at points in  $t \cdot q_e$ , such that their base curves in Qequal  $q_e(\tau)$  and their momentum values are  $\beta(\tau, \mu)$ . Not all perturbations  $\beta(\tau, \mu)$  are possible in order to achieve this and it is part of the problem to determine which ones will yield symmetry breaking bifurcating branches of relative equilibria. To do this, let  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) \in \mathfrak{g}$  be the image of  $\beta(\tau, \mu)$  by the inverse of the locked inertial tensor of the mechanical problem under consideration evaluated at  $q_e(\tau)$  for  $\tau > 0$ . If one can show that the limit  $\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu)$  of  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)$  exists and belongs to t for  $\tau \to 0$ , then the infinitesimal generator of  $\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu)$  evaluated at  $q_e$  is automatically a relative equilibrium since it belongs to  $t \cdot q_e$ . We shall determine an open  $G_{q_e}$ invariant neighborhood U of the origin in the orthogonal complement to the tangent space to the orbit  $G \cdot q_e$  such that this limit exists whenever  $v_{q_e} \in U$ . Next, we will determine a family  $v_{q_e}(\tau, \mu_1) \in TQ$  and, among all possible  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)$ , another family  $\zeta(\tau, \mu_1) \in \mathfrak{g}$  such that the infinitesimal generators of  $\zeta(\tau, \mu_1)$  evaluated at the base points  $\operatorname{Exp}(\tau v_{q_e}(\tau, \mu_1))$  of  $\tau v_{q_e}(\tau, \mu_1)$  are relative equilibria. Here  $\mu_1$  is a certain component of  $\mu$  in a direct sum decomposition of  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  naturally associated to the bifurcation problem. This produces a branch of relative equilibria starting in the subspace  $t \cdot q_e$  which has trivial isotropy for  $\tau > 0$  and which depends smoothly on the parameter  $\mu_1 \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ . In the process, the precise form of the perturbation  $\beta(\tau, \mu)$  is also determined; it is a quadratic polynomial in  $\tau$  whose coefficients are certain components in the direct sum decomposition of  $g^*$  mentioned above.

There are two technical problems in this procedure: the existence of the limit of  $\zeta(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu)$  as  $\tau\to 0$  and the extension of the amended potential at points with symmetry. The amended potential criterion is one of the main tools that we shall use in order to achieve the results described above. Recall that the classical amended potential is not defined at points with symmetry and this is one of the difficult technical problems that needs to be addressed in the proof. The existence of the limit is shown using the Lyapunov–Schmidt procedure. To extend the amended potential and its derivatives at points with symmetry, two auxiliary functions obtained by blow-up are introduced. The analysis breaks up in two bifurcation problems on a space orthogonal to the *G*-orbit.

This symmetry breaking bifurcation result in the first part can be regarded as an extension of the work of Hernández and Marsden [6]. The main difference is that one

single hypothesis from [6] has been retained, namely that all points of  $t \cdot q_e$  are relative equilibria. We have also eliminated a strong non-degeneracy assumption in [6]. But the general principles of the strategy of the proof having to do with a regularization of the amended potential at points with symmetry, where it is not a priori defined, remains the same.

The second result of the first part gives sufficient Lyapunov stability conditions along the bifurcating branches found before under the additional assumption that  $G=\mathbb{T}$ . The stability method used is the energy-momentum method (see [19]) in a formulation due to Patrick (see [16]) that is particularly well suited for our purposes. It should be noted that the Lyapunov stability is only for perturbations transverse to the  $G_{\mu}$ -orbit since drift is possible in the symmetry directions; here  $G_{\mu}$  denotes the isotropy subgroup of the coadjoint action at the momentum value  $\mu$  of the relative equilibrium. In calculating the second variation of the amended potential there appear terms that make it indefinite, if the symmetry group G is non-Abelian. On the other hand, if G is Abelian, these terms vanish and the energy-momentum method gives the desired stability result.

In the second part of the paper we treat the general situation when the principal stratum of the G-action on the configuration manifold Q of the given mechanical system is associated to a non-trivial closed symmetry subgroup  $H \subset G$ . In this case each point on this stratum has symmetry subgroup conjugate to H. We extend the results of the first part under the additional hypothesis that  $H \subseteq \mathbb{T}$ , where  $\mathbb{T}$  is a maximal torus of the compact Lie group G. The main result of this part is the existence of symmetry breaking bifurcating branches of relative equilibria with principal symmetry emanating from the vector subspace  $\mathbf{t} \cdot q_e \subset T_{q_e} Q$ . As opposed to the situation in the first part, the amended potential criterion along the emanating branches is not applicable anymore, because each point on such a branch has non-trivial isotropy. Thus we shall use the augmented potential and the same type of techniques as in the first part to treat branches with non-trivial isotropy. However, we can obtain only bifurcating curves of relative equilibria and not multi-parameter families; we lose the explicit dependence on the momentum value along the bifurcating branch (which used to be known in the first part when  $H = \{e\}$ ).

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we quickly review the necessary material on symmetric simple mechanical systems and introduce the notations and conventions for the entire paper. Relative equilibria and their characterizations for general symmetric mechanical systems and for simple ones in terms of the augmented and amended potentials are recalled in Section 3. Section 4 gives a brief summary of facts from the theory of proper Lie group actions needed in this paper. After these short introductory sections, Section 5 presents the first bifurcation result of the paper. The existence of branches of relative equilibria starting at certain points in  $t \cdot q_e$ , depending on several parameters and having trivial symmetry, is proved in Theorem 5.17. In Section 6, using a result of Patrick [16], Lyapunov stability conditions for these branches are given if the symmetry group of the given mechanical system is a torus. The second bifurcation result of the paper is presented in Section 7. The existence of bifurcating branches of relative equilibria with non-trivial symmetry is proved in Theorem 7.1. Due to the presence of symmetry along the branch, this result is somewhat weaker than the

one in Section 5 yielding only one-parameter families of bifurcating relative equilibria as opposed to the multi-parameter families described in Theorem 5.17.

# 2. Lagrangian mechanical systems

This section summarizes the key facts from the theory of Lagrangian systems with symmetry and sets the notations and conventions to be used throughout this paper. The references for this section are [1,2,9–12,18].

# 2.1. Lagrangian mechanical systems with symmetry

We shall use the following notation throughout the paper: if  $f: M \to N$  is a smooth map from the manifold M to the manifold N, the symbol  $T_m f: T_m M \to T_{f(m)} N$  denotes the tangent map, or derivative, of the map f at the point  $m \in M$ .

Let Q be a smooth manifold, the configuration space of a mechanical system. The fiber derivative or Legendre transform  $\mathbb{F}L: TQ \to T^*Q$  of L is a vector bundle map covering the identity defined by

$$\langle \mathbb{F}L(v_q), w_q \rangle = \frac{d}{dt} \bigg|_{t=0} L(v_q + tw_q)$$

for any  $v_q, w_q \in TQ$ . The energy of L is defined by  $E(v_q) = \langle \mathbb{F}L(v_q), v_q \rangle - L(v_q), v_q \in T_q Q$ . The pull back by  $\mathbb{F}L$  of the canonical one- and two-forms of  $T^*Q$  give the Lagrangian one and two-forms  $\Theta_L$  and  $\Omega_L$  on TQ, respectively, that have thus the expressions

$$\begin{split} \langle \Theta_L(v_q), \delta v_q \rangle &= \langle \mathbb{F}L(v_q), T_{v_q} \pi_Q(\delta v_q) \rangle, \quad v_q \in T_q \, Q, \\ \delta v_q \in T_{v_q} T Q, \quad \Omega_L &= -\mathbf{d} \Theta_L, \end{split}$$

where  $\pi_Q: TQ \to Q$  is the tangent bundle projection. The Lagrangian L is called regular if  $\mathbb{F}L$  is a local diffeomorphism, which is equivalent to  $\Omega_L$  being a symplectic form on TQ. The Lagrangian L is called hyperregular if  $\mathbb{F}L$  is a diffeomorphism and hence a vector bundle isomorphism. The Lagrangian vector field  $X_E$  of L is uniquely determined by the equality

$$\Omega_L(v_q)(X_E(v_q),w_q) = \langle \mathbf{d}E(v_q),w_q\rangle \quad \text{for} \quad v_q,\ w_q \in T_q \, Q.$$

A Lagrangian dynamical system, or simply a Lagrangian system, for L is the dynamical system defined by  $X_E$ , i.e.,  $\dot{v} = X_E(v)$ . In standard coordinates  $(q^i, \dot{q}^i)$  the trajectories of  $X_E$  are given by the second-order equations

$$\frac{d}{dt}\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{q}^i} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial q^i} = 0,$$

which are the classical the Euler–Lagrange equations.

Let G be a Lie group of dimension at least one,  $\mathfrak{g}$  its Lie algebra,  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  its dual, and  $\Psi: G \times Q \to Q$  a smooth left Lie group action on Q. We shall often denote by  $g \cdot q := \Psi(g,q)$  the action of the element  $g \in G$  on the point  $q \in Q$ . The *infinitesimal generator* of  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$  is the smooth vector field  $\xi_Q \in \mathfrak{X}(Q)$  defined by

$$\xi_Q(q) := \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} \exp(t\,\xi) \cdot q$$

for any  $q \in Q$ . The left lifted G-actions on TQ and  $T^*Q$  are defined by

$$g \cdot v_q := T_q \Psi_g(v_q) \quad \text{and} \quad g \cdot \alpha_q := T_{g \cdot q}^* \Psi_{g^{-1}}(\alpha_q)$$

for  $g \in G$ ,  $v_q \in T_q Q$ , and  $\alpha_q \in T_q^* Q$ . The equivariant (relative to the left lifted G-action on  $T^*Q$  and the left coadjoint action of G on  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ ) momentum map  $\mathbf{J}: T^*Q \to \mathfrak{g}^*$  is given by

$$\langle \mathbf{J}(\alpha_q),\, \xi\rangle = \langle \alpha_q,\, \xi_Q(q)\rangle \quad \text{for } \alpha_q \in T_q^*Q, \ \ \xi \in \mathfrak{g},$$

where (,) always denotes the pairing between a space and its dual.

Let  $L: TQ \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Lagrangian that is invariant under the lifted action of G to TQ, that is,  $L(g \cdot v_q) = L(v_q)$  for all  $g \in G$  and  $v_q \in TQ$ . From the definition of the fiber derivative it immediately follows that  $\mathbb{F}L$  is equivariant relative to the (left) lifted G-actions to TQ and  $T^*Q$ , that E is also G-invariant, and that  $X_E$  is G-equivariant, that is,  $\Psi_g^*X_E = X_E$  for any  $g \in G$ . The G-action on TQ admits an equivariant momentum map  $\mathbf{J}_L: TQ \to \mathfrak{g}^*$  given by

$$\langle \mathbf{J}_L(v_q),\, \xi\rangle = \langle \mathbb{F}L(v_q),\, \xi_Q(q)\rangle \quad \text{for} \quad v_q \in T_q\, Q, \ \ \xi \in \mathfrak{g},$$

and hence  $\mathbf{J}_L = \mathbf{J} \circ \mathbb{F}L$ . By Noether's theorem,  $\mathbf{J}_L$  is constant on the flow of  $X_E$ .

#### 2.2. Simple mechanical systems

A simple mechanical system  $(Q, \langle\!\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle\!\rangle_Q, V)$  consists of a Riemannian manifold  $(Q, \langle\!\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle\!\rangle_Q)$  together with a potential function  $V: Q \to \mathbb{R}$ . These elements define a Hamiltonian system on  $(T^*Q, \omega)$  with Hamiltonian given by  $H: T^*Q \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $H(\alpha_q) = \frac{1}{2}\langle\!\langle \alpha_q, \alpha_q \rangle\!\rangle_{T^*Q} + V(q)$ , where  $\alpha_q \in T_q^*Q$ ,  $\langle\!\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle\!\rangle_{T^*Q}$  is the vector bundle metric on  $T^*Q$  induced by the Riemannian metric of Q, and  $\omega = -\mathbf{d}\theta$  is the canonical symplectic form on the cotangent bundle  $T^*Q$ . In canonical coordinates  $(q^i, p_i)$  on  $T^*Q$ , we have  $\theta = p_i \mathbf{d} q^i$  and  $\omega = \mathbf{d} q^i \wedge \mathbf{d} p_i$ . The Hamiltonian vector field  $X_H$  is uniquely defined by the relation  $\mathbf{i}_{X_H} \omega = \mathbf{d} H$ .

The dynamics of a simple mechanical system can also be described in terms of Lagrangian mechanics, whose description takes place on TQ. The Lagrangian  $L:TQ\to\mathbb{R}$  for a simple mechanical system is given by  $L(v_q)=\frac{1}{2}\langle\langle v_q,v_q\rangle\rangle_Q-V(q)$ , where

 $v_q \in T_q Q$ . The energy of L is  $E(v_q) = \frac{1}{2} \langle \langle v_q, v_q \rangle \rangle + V(q)$ . Since the fiber derivative for a simple mechanical system is given by  $\langle \mathbb{F}L(v_q), w_q \rangle = \langle \langle v_q, w_q \rangle \rangle_Q$ , or in local coordinates  $\mathbb{F}L\left(\dot{q}^i\partial/\partial q^i\right) = g_{ij}\dot{q}^jdq^i$ , where  $g_{ij}$  is the local expression for the metric on Q, it follows that L is hyperregular. The relationship between the Hamiltonian and the Lagrangian dynamics is the following: the vector bundle isomorphism  $\mathbb{F}L$  bijectively maps the trajectories of  $X_E$  to the trajectories of  $X_H$ ,  $(\mathbb{F}L)^*X_H = X_E$ , and the base integral curves of  $X_E$  and  $X_H$  (that is, the projections to Q of the integral curves of  $X_H$  and  $X_E$ ) coincide.

# 2.3. Simple mechanical systems with symmetry

Let G act on the configuration manifold Q of a simple mechanical system  $(Q, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)_Q$ , V) by isometries. The potential function  $V: Q \to \mathbb{R}$  is assumed to be G-invariant. The *locked inertia tensor*  $\mathbb{I}: Q \to \mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^*)$ , where  $\mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^*)$  denotes the vector space of linear maps from  $\mathfrak{g}$  to  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ , is defined by

$$\langle \mathbb{I}(q)\xi,\eta\rangle = \langle \langle \xi_Q(q),\eta_Q(q)\rangle \rangle_Q$$

for any  $q \in Q$  and any  $\xi, \eta \in \mathfrak{g}$ . Note that  $\ker \mathbb{I}(q) = \mathfrak{g}_q := \{\xi \in \mathfrak{g} \mid \xi_Q(q) = 0\}$ . The G-action on Q is said to be *locally free at*  $q \in Q$  if  $\mathfrak{g}_q = \{0\}$  which is equivalent to  $G_q$  being a discrete subgroup of G. In this case  $\mathbb{I}(q)$  is an isomorphism and hence defines an inner product on  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

Suppose the action is locally free at every point  $q \in Q$ . Then one can define the mechanical connection  $A \in \Omega^1(Q; \mathfrak{g})$  by

$$\mathcal{A}(q)(v_q) = \mathbb{I}(q)^{-1} \mathbf{J}_L(v_q), \quad v_q \in T_q Q.$$

If the G-action is free and proper, so  $Q \to Q/G$  is a G-principal bundle, then A is a (left) connection one-form on the principal bundle  $Q \to Q/G$ , that is, it satisfies the following properties:

•  $\mathcal{A}(q): T_q Q \to \mathfrak{g}$  is linear and G-equivariant for every  $q \in Q$ , which means that

$$\mathcal{A}(g\cdot q)(g\cdot v_q) = \mathrm{Ad}_g[\mathcal{A}(q)(v_q)],$$

for any  $v_q \in T_q Q$  and any  $g \in G$ , where Ad denotes the adjoint representation of G on  $\mathfrak{g}$ ;

•  $\mathcal{A}(q)(\bar{\xi}_Q(q)) = \xi$ , for any  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$ .

If  $\mu \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  is given, we denote by  $\mathcal{A}_{\mu} \in \Omega^1(Q)$  the  $\mu$ -component of  $\mathcal{A}$ , that is, the one-form on Q defined by  $\langle \mathcal{A}_{\mu}(q), v_q \rangle = \langle \mu, \mathcal{A}(q)(v_q) \rangle$  for any  $v_q \in T_q Q$ . The G-invariance of the metric and the relation

$$(\mathrm{Ad}_g \xi)_Q(q) = g \cdot \xi_Q(g^{-1} \cdot q),$$

implies that

$$\mathbb{I}(g\cdot q) = \mathrm{Ad}_{\varrho^{-1}}^* \circ \mathbb{I}(q) \circ \mathrm{Ad}_{g^{-1}}, \tag{2.1}$$

where  $\operatorname{Ad}_{g^{-1}}^*$  denotes the left coadjoint action of  $g \in G$  on  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ . We shall also need later the infinitesimal version of the above identity

$$T_q \mathbb{I}\left(\xi_Q(q)\right) = -\operatorname{ad}_{\xi}^* \circ \mathbb{I}(q) - \mathbb{I}(q) \circ \operatorname{ad}_{\xi}, \tag{2.2}$$

where  $ad_{\xi}: g \to g$  is the linear map defined by  $ad_{\xi}\eta := [\xi, \eta]$  for any  $\xi, \eta \in g$  and  $ad_{\xi}^*: g^* \to g^*$  is its dual. This identity implies

$$\langle T_q \mathbb{I}(\zeta_O(q))\xi, \eta \rangle = \mathbf{d}\langle \mathbb{I}(\cdot)\xi, \eta \rangle \langle q) \left( \zeta_O(q) \right) = \langle \mathbb{I}(q)[\xi, \zeta], \eta \rangle + \langle \mathbb{I}(q)\xi, [\eta, \zeta] \rangle \tag{2.3}$$

for all  $q \in Q$  and all  $\xi, \eta, \zeta \in \mathfrak{g}$ .

## 3. Relative equilibria

This section recalls the basic facts about relative equilibria that will be needed in this paper. For proofs see [1,9,11,12,19].

#### 3.1. Basic definitions and concepts

Let  $\Psi: G \times M \to M$  be a left action of the Lie group G with Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  on the manifold M. A smooth vector field  $X: M \to TM$  is said to be G-equivariant if

$$T_m \Psi_g(X(m)) = X(\Psi_g(m))$$
 or, equivalently,  $\Psi_g^* X = X$ 

for all  $m \in M$  and  $g \in G$ . If X is G-equivariant, then G is said to be a *symmetry group* of the dynamical system  $\dot{m} = X(m)$ . A *relative equilibrium* of a G-equivariant vector field X is a point  $m_e \in M$  such that

$$X(m_e) \in T_{m_e}(G \cdot m_e),$$

where  $G \cdot m_e := \{g \cdot m_e \mid g \in G\}$  is the G-orbit through  $m_e$ . Since  $T_{m_e}(G \cdot m_e) = \{\xi_M(m_e) \mid \xi \in \mathfrak{g}\} =: \mathfrak{g} \cdot m_e$ , this condition is equivalent to the statement that there is some  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$ , usually called the *velocity* of  $m_e$ , such that  $X(m_e) = \xi_M(m_e)$ . A relative equilibrium  $m_e$  is said to be *asymmetric* if the isotropy subalgebra  $\mathfrak{g}_{m_e} := \{\eta \in \mathfrak{g} \mid \eta_M(m_e) = 0\} = \{0\}$  and *symmetric* otherwise. Note that if  $m_e$  is a relative equilibrium with velocity  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$ , then for any  $g \in G$ ,  $g \cdot m_e$  is a relative equilibrium with velocity  $\mathrm{Ad}_g \xi$ . The flow of an equivariant vector field induces a flow on the quotient space.

Thus, if the G-action is free and proper, a relative equilibrium defines an equilibrium of the induced vector field on the quotient space and conversely, any element in the fiber over an equilibrium in the quotient space is a relative equilibrium of the original system.

#### 3.2. Relative equilibria in Hamiltonian G-systems

Given is a symplectic manifold  $(P,\omega)$  and a left symplectic Lie group action of G on P that admits a momentum map  $\mathbf{J}: P \to \mathfrak{g}^*$ , that is,  $X_{\mathbf{J}^{\xi}} = \xi_P$ , for any  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$ , where  $\mathbf{J}^{\xi}(p) := \langle \mathbf{J}(p), \xi \rangle$ ,  $p \in P$ , is the  $\xi$ -component of  $\mathbf{J}$ . We shall also assume throughout this paper that the momentum map  $\mathbf{J}$  is equivariant, that is,  $\mathbf{J}(g \cdot p) = \mathrm{Ad}_{g^{-1}}^* \mathbf{J}(p)$ , for any  $g \in G$  and any  $p \in P$ . Note that the momentum maps  $\mathbf{J}: T^*Q \to \mathfrak{g}^*$  and  $\mathbf{J}_L: TQ \to \mathfrak{g}^*$  presented in Section 2.1 are particular examples of this general situation. Given is also a G-invariant function  $H: P \to \mathbb{R}$ . Noether's theorem states that  $\mathbf{J} \circ F_t = \mathbf{J}$  for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  for which the flow  $F_t$  of the Hamiltonian vector field  $X_H$  is defined. In what follows  $(P, \omega, H, \mathbf{J}, G)$  is called a *Hamiltonian G-system*. Consistent with the general definition presented above, a point  $p_e \in P$  is a *relative equilibrium* of  $X_H$  if

$$X_H(p_e) \in T_{p_e}(G \cdot p_e).$$

As in the general case,  $p_e$  is a relative equilibrium if and only if there exists  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$ , called the velocity of  $p_e$ , such that  $X_H(p_e) = \xi_P(p_e)$ . Relative equilibria are characterized in the following manner.

**Proposition 3.1** (Characterization of relative equilibria). Let  $p_e(t)$  be the integral curve of  $X_H$  with initial condition  $p_e(0) = p_e \in P$ . Then the following are equivalent:

- (i)  $p_e$  is a relative equilibrium.
- (ii) There exists  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$  such that  $p_e(t) = \exp(t\xi) \cdot p_e$ .
- (iii) There exists  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$  such that  $p_e$  is a critical point of the augmented Hamiltonian

$$H_{\mathcal{E}}(p) := H(p) - \langle \mathbf{J}(p) - \mathbf{J}(p_e), \xi \rangle.$$

We shall use later the following properties of relative equilibria in Hamiltonian systems.

**Proposition 3.2.** Let  $p_e$  be a relative equilibrium of  $X_H$  with velocity  $\xi$ . Then

- (i) for any  $g \in G$ ,  $g \cdot p_e$  is also a relative equilibrium whose velocity is  $\operatorname{Ad}_g \xi$ ;
- (ii)  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{J}(p_e)} := \{ \eta \in \mathfrak{g} \mid \operatorname{ad}_{\eta}^* \mathbf{J}(p_e) = 0 \}$ , the coadjoint isotropy subalgebra at  $\mathbf{J}(p_e) \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ , which is equivalent to the identity  $\operatorname{Ad}_{\exp t\xi}^* \mathbf{J}(p_e) = \mathbf{J}(p_e)$  for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

#### 3.3. Relative equilibria in simple mechanical G-systems

In the case of simple mechanical G-systems, the characterization (iii) in Proposition 3.1 can be simplified in such way that the search of relative equilibria reduces to the search of critical points of a real-valued function on Q. Depending on whether one keeps track of the velocity or the momentum of a relative equilibrium, this simplification yields the *augmented* or the *amended* potential criterion, which we introduce in what follows. Let  $(Q, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)_Q, V, G$  be a simple mechanical G-system.

- For  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$ , the augmented potential  $V_{\xi}: Q \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by  $V_{\xi}(q) := V(q) \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbb{I}(q) \xi, \xi \rangle$ . • For  $\mu \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ , the amended potential  $V_{\mu}: Q \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by  $V_{\mu}(q) := V(q) + \mathbb{I}(q)$
- For  $\mu \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ , the amended potential  $V_{\mu}: Q \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by  $V_{\mu}(q) := V(q) + \frac{1}{2} \langle \mu, \mathbb{I}(q)^{-1} \mu \rangle$ .

It is important to notice that the amended potential is defined at  $q \in Q$  only if q in an asymmetric point. The amended potential has the alternate expression  $V_{\mu} = H \circ A_{\mu}$ .

**Proposition 3.3** (Augmented potential criterion). A point  $(q_e, p_e) \in T^*Q$  is a relative equilibrium of a simple mechanical G-system if and only if there exists a  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$  such that:

(i) 
$$p_e = \langle \! \langle \xi_Q(q_e), \cdot \rangle \! \rangle \in T_{q_e}^*Q$$
 and  
(ii)  $q_e \in Q$  is a critical point of  $V_{\xi}$ .

**Proposition 3.4** (Amended potential criterion). A point  $(q_e, p_e) \in T^*Q$  is a relative equilibrium of a simple mechanical G-system with  $q_e$  an asymmetric point if and only if there is a  $\mu \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  such that:

(i)  $p_e = \mathcal{A}_{\mu}(q_e) \in T_{q_e}^* Q$  and (ii)  $q_e \in Q$  is a critical point of  $V_{\mu}$ .

## 4. Some basic results from the theory of Lie group actions

We shall need a few fundamental results form the theory of group actions which we now review. For proofs and further information see [3,4,7,15].

## 4.1. Maximal tori

Let V be a representation space of a compact Lie group G. A point  $v \in V$  is *regular* if there is no G-orbit in V whose dimension is strictly greater than the dimension of the G-orbit through v. The set of regular points, denoted  $V_{\text{reg}}$ , is open and dense in V. In particular,  $g_{\text{reg}}$  and  $g_{\text{reg}}^*$ , denote the set of regular points in g and  $g^*$  with respect to adjoint and coadjoint representations, respectively. A subgroup of a Lie group is said to be a *torus* if it is isomorphic to  $S^1 \times \cdots \times S^1$ . Every compact, connected, Abelian Lie group of dimension at least one is a torus. A subgroup of a Lie group is said to be a *maximal torus* if it is a torus that is not properly contained in some

other torus. If G is a compact Lie group with Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ , every  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$  belongs to at least one maximal Abelian subalgebra and every  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}_{reg}$  belongs to exactly one such maximal Abelian subalgebra. Every maximal Abelian subalgebra is the Lie algebra of some maximal torus in G. Let  $\mathfrak{t}$  be the maximal Abelian subalgebra corresponding to a maximal torus T. Then for any  $\xi \in \mathfrak{t} \cap \mathfrak{g}_{reg}$ , we have that  $G_{\xi} = T$ ; for details see [4].

## 4.2. Twisted products

Let G be a Lie group and  $H \subset G$  a Lie subgroup. Suppose that H acts on the left on a manifold A. The *twisted action* of H on the product  $G \times A$  is defined by

$$h \cdot (g, a) = (gh, h^{-1} \cdot a), \quad h \in H, \ g \in G, \ a \in A.$$

Note that this action is free and proper by the freeness and properness of the action on the G-factor. The *twisted product*  $G \times_H A$  is defined as the orbit space  $(G \times A)/H$  of the twisted action. The elements of  $G \times_H A$  will be denoted by  $[g,a], g \in G$ ,  $a \in A$ . The twisted product  $G \times_H A$  is a G-space relative to the left action defined by  $g' \cdot [g,a] = [g'g,a]$ . Also, the action of H on A is proper if and only if the G-action on  $G \times_H A$  is proper. The isotropy subgroups of the G-action on the twisted product  $G \times_H A$  satisfy

$$G_{[g,a]} = gH_ag^{-1}, \quad g \in G, \ a \in A.$$

#### 4.3. Slices

$$\varphi: G \times_H S \to U$$
 defined by  $[g, s] \mapsto g \cdot s$ 

is a tube about  $G \cdot q$ , for some G-invariant open neighborhood of  $G \cdot q$ . Notice that if S is a slice at q then  $g \cdot S$  is a slice at the point  $g \cdot q$ . The following statements are

equivalent:

- (i) There is a tube  $\varphi: G \times_H A \to U$  about  $G \cdot q$  such that  $\varphi([e, A]) = S$ .
- (ii) S is a slice at q.
- (iii) The submanifold S satisfies the following properties:
  - (a) The set  $G \cdot S$  is an open neighborhood of the orbit  $G \cdot q$  and S is closed in  $G \cdot S$ .
  - (b) For any  $s \in S$  we have  $T_sQ = \mathfrak{g} \cdot s + T_sS$ . Moreover,  $\mathfrak{g} \cdot s \cap T_sS = \mathfrak{h} \cdot s$ , where  $\mathfrak{h} := \{ \eta \in \mathfrak{g} \mid \eta_Q(q) = 0 \}$  is the Lie algebra of  $H := G_q$ . In particular  $T_qQ = \mathfrak{g} \cdot q \oplus T_qS$ .
  - (c) S is H-invariant. Moreover, if  $s \in S$  and  $g \in G$  are such that  $g \cdot s \in S$ , then  $g \in H$ .
  - (d) Let  $\sigma: U \subset G/H \to G$  be a local section of the submersion  $G \to G/H$ . Then the map  $F: U \times S \to Q$  given by  $F(u, s) := \sigma(u) \cdot s$  is a diffeomorphism onto an open set of Q.
- (iv)  $G \cdot S$  is an open neighborhood of  $G \cdot q$  and there is an equivariant smooth retraction

$$r: G \cdot S \rightarrow G \cdot q$$

of the injection  $G \cdot q \hookrightarrow G \cdot S$  such that  $r^{-1}(q) = S$ .

**Theorem 4.1** (Slice theorem). Let the Lie group G act properly on the manifold Q. For any  $q \in Q$  there exists a slice at q.

**Theorem 4.2** (Tube theorem). Let the Lie group G act properly on the manifold Q,  $q \in Q$ , and denote  $H := G_q$ . Then there exists a tube  $\varphi : G \times_H B \to U$  about  $G \cdot q$  such that  $\varphi([e,0]) = q$  and  $\varphi([e,B]) =: S$  is a slice at q; B is an open H-invariant neighborhood of 0 in the vector space  $T_q Q/T_q(G \cdot q)$ , on which H acts linearly by  $h \cdot (v_q + T_q(G \cdot q)) := T_q \Psi_h(v_q) + T_q(G \cdot q)$ .

If Q is a Riemannian manifold then B can be chosen to be a  $G_q$ -invariant neighborhood of 0 in  $(\mathfrak{g}\cdot q)^\perp$ , the orthogonal complement to  $\mathfrak{g}\cdot q$  in  $T_qQ$ . In this case  $U=G\cdot\operatorname{Exp}_q(B)$ , where  $\operatorname{Exp}_q:T_qQ\to Q$  is the Riemannian exponential map.

## 4.4. Type submanifolds and fixed point subspaces

Let G be a Lie group acting on a manifold Q. Let H be a closed subgroup of G. We define the following subsets of Q:

$$\begin{split} Q_{(H)} &= \{ q \in Q \mid G_q = gHg^{-1}, g \in G \}, \\ Q^H &= \{ q \in Q \mid H \subset G_q \}, \\ Q_H &= \{ q \in Q \mid H = G_q \}. \end{split}$$

All these sets are submanifolds of Q. The set  $Q_{(H)}$  is called the (H)-orbit type submanifold,  $Q_H$  is the H-isotropy type submanifold, and  $Q^H$  is the H-fixed point submanifold. We will collectively call these subsets the type submanifolds. We have:

- $Q^H$  is closed in Q;
- $\bullet \ \ Q_{(H)} = G \cdot Q_H;$
- $Q_H$  is open in  $Q^H$ .
- the tangent space at  $q \in Q_H$  to  $Q_H$  equals

$$T_{q}Q_{H} = \{v_{q} \in T_{q}Q \mid T_{q}\Psi_{h}(v_{q}) = v_{q}, \ \forall h \in H\} = (T_{q}Q)^{H} = T_{q}Q^{H};$$

- $T_q(G \cdot q) \cap (T_q Q)^H = T_q(N(H) \cdot q)$ , where N(H) is the normalizer of H in G; if H is compact then  $Q_H = Q^H \cap Q_{(H)}$  and  $Q_H$  is closed in  $Q_{(H)}$ .

If Q is a vector space on which H acts linearly, the set  $Q^H$  is found in the physics literature under the names of space of singlets or space of invariant vectors.

**Theorem 4.3** (The stratification theorem). Let Q be a smooth manifold and G be a Lie group acting properly on it. The connected components of the orbit type manifolds  $Q_{(H)}$ and their projections onto the orbit space  $Q_{(H)}/G$  constitute a Whitney stratification of Q and Q/G, respectively. This stratification of Q/G is minimal among all Whitney stratifications of Q/G.

The proof of this result, that can be found in [4] or [17], is based on the Slice Theorem and on a series of extremely important properties of the orbit type manifolds decomposition that we enumerate in what follows. We start by recalling that the set of conjugacy classes of subgroups of a Lie group G admits a partial order by defining  $(K) \prec (H)$  if and only if H is conjugate to a subgroup of K. Also, a point  $q \in Q$ in a proper G-space Q (or its corresponding G-orbit,  $G \cdot q$ ) is called *principal* if its corresponding local orbit type manifold is open in Q. The orbit  $G \cdot q$  is called regular if the dimension of the orbits nearby coincides with the dimension of  $G \cdot q$ . The set of principal and regular orbits will be denoted by  $Q_{\text{princ}}/G$  and  $Q_{\text{reg}}/G$ , respectively. Using this notation we have:

- For any  $q \in Q$  there exists an neighborhood U of q that intersects only finitely many connected components of finitely many orbit type manifolds. If Q is compact or a linear space where G acts linearly, then the G-action on Q has only finitely many distinct connected components of orbit type manifolds.
- For any  $q \in Q$  there exists an open neighborhood U of q such that  $(G_q) \leq (G_x)$ , for all  $x \in U$ . In particular, this implies that dim  $G \cdot q \leq \dim G \cdot x$ , for all  $x \in U$ .

  • *Principal Orbit Theorem*: For every connected component  $Q^0$  of Q the subset  $Q_{\text{princ}} \cap$
- $Q^0$  is connected, open, and dense in  $Q^0$ . Each connected component  $(Q/G)^0$  of Q/G contains only one principal orbit type, which is connected open and dense in  $(Q/G)^0$ .

#### 5. Regularization of the amended potential criterion

In this section we shall follow the strategy in [6] to give sufficient criteria for finding relative equilibria emanating from a given one and to find a method that distinguishes between the distinct branches. The criterion will involve a certain regularization of the amended potential. The main difference with [6] is that all hypotheses but one have been eliminated and we work with a general torus and not just a circle. The conventions, notations, and method of proof are those in [6].

## 5.1. The bifurcation problem

Let  $(Q, \langle\!\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle\!\rangle_Q, V, G)$  be a simple mechanical G-system, with G a compact Lie group with the Lie algebra g. Recall that the left G-action  $\Psi: G \times Q \to Q$  is by isometries and that the potential  $V: Q \to \mathbb{R}$  is G-invariant. Let  $q_e \in Q$  be a symmetric point whose isotropy group  $G_{q_e}$  is contained in a maximal torus  $\mathbb{T}$  of G. Denote by  $\mathfrak{t} \subset \mathfrak{g}$  the Lie algebra of  $\mathbb{T}$ . Throughout this section we shall make the following hypothesis:

**(H)** every 
$$v_{q_e} \in t \cdot q_e$$
 is a relative equilibrium.

Throughout this paper the symbol  $S^{\circ} := \{\alpha \in V^* \mid \langle \alpha, x \rangle = 0\}$  denotes the *annihilator* of the subset  $S \subset V$  in the vector space  $V^*$ , relative to the duality pairing  $\langle , \rangle : V^* \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ . Note that  $S^{\circ}$  is always a vector subspace of  $V^*$ .

The following result was communicated to us by J. Montaldi.

**Proposition 5.1.** *In the context above we have:* 

- (i)  $dV(q_e) = 0$
- (ii)  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{t}\subseteq [\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{t}]^{\circ}$ .

**Proof.** (i) Because all the elements in  $t \cdot q_e$  are relative equilibria, we have by the augmented potential criterion  $\mathbf{d}V_{\xi}(q_e) = 0$ , for any  $\xi \in \mathfrak{t}$ . Consequently, for  $\xi = 0$  we will obtain  $0 = \mathbf{d}V_0(q_e) = \mathbf{d}V(q_e)$ .

(ii) Substituting q by  $q_e$  and setting  $\eta = \xi \in \mathfrak{t}$  in relation (2.3), we obtain:

$$\mathbf{d}\langle \mathbb{I}(\cdot)\xi, \xi\rangle(q_e)(\zeta_O(q_e)) = \langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)[\xi, \zeta], \xi\rangle + \langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)\xi, [\xi, \zeta]\rangle = 2\langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)\xi, [\xi, \zeta]\rangle$$

for any  $\xi \in \mathfrak{t}$  and  $\zeta \in \mathfrak{g}$ . The augmented potential criterion yields

$$0 = \mathbf{d}V_{\xi}(q_e) = \mathbf{d}V(q_e) - \frac{1}{2}\,\mathbf{d}\langle\mathbb{I}(\cdot)\xi,\,\xi\rangle(q_e).$$

Since  $dV(q_e) = 0$  by (i), this implies  $d\langle \mathbb{I}(\cdot)\xi, \xi\rangle(q_e) = 0$  and consequently  $\langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)\xi, [\xi, \zeta]\rangle = 0$ , for any  $\xi \in \mathfrak{t}$  and  $\zeta \in \mathfrak{g}$ . So we have the inclusion

$$\mathbb{I}(q_e)\xi \subset [\mathfrak{q}, \xi]^{\circ}.$$

Now we will prove that  $[g, \xi]^{\circ} = [g, t]^{\circ}$  for regular elements  $\xi \in t$ . For this it is enough to prove that  $[\xi, g] = [t, g]$  for regular elements  $\xi \in t$ . It is obvious that  $[\xi, g] \subseteq [t, g]$  if  $\xi \in t$ . Equality will follow by showing that both spaces have the same dimension. To do this, let  $F_{\xi} : g \to g$ ,  $F_{\xi}(\eta) := \mathrm{ad}_{\xi}\eta$ , which is obviously a linear map whose image and kernel are  $\mathrm{Im}(F_{\xi}) = [\xi, g]$  and  $\mathrm{ker}(F_{\xi}) = g_{\xi}$ . Because  $\xi \in t$  is a regular element we have that  $g_{\xi} = t$  and so  $\mathrm{ker}(F_{\xi}) = t$ . Thus  $\mathrm{dim}(g) = \mathrm{dim}(t) + \mathrm{dim}([\xi, g])$  and so using the fact that  $\mathrm{dim}(g) = \mathrm{dim}(t) + \mathrm{dim}([t, g])$  (since  $g = t \oplus [g, t]$ , g being a compact Lie algebra), we obtain the equality  $\mathrm{dim}([\xi, g]) = \mathrm{dim}([t, g])$ . Therefore,  $[\xi, g] = [t, g]$  for any regular element  $\xi \in t$ . Summarizing, we proved

$$\mathbb{I}(q_e)\xi \subseteq [\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{t}]^{\circ},$$

for any regular element  $\xi \in \mathfrak{t}$ . The continuity of  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)$ , the closedness of  $[\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{t}]^{\circ}$ , and that fact that the regular elements  $\xi \in \mathfrak{t}$  form a dense subset of  $\mathfrak{t}$ , implies that

$$\mathbb{I}(q_e)\xi \subseteq [\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{t}]^{\circ},$$

for any  $\xi \in \mathfrak{t}$  and hence  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{t} \subseteq [\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{t}]^{\circ}$ .  $\square$ 

**Lemma 5.2.** For each  $v_{q_e} \in t \cdot q_e$  we have  $G_{v_{q_e}} = G_{q_e}$ .

**Proof.** The inclusion  $G_{v_{q_e}} \subseteq G_{q_e}$  is obviously true, so it will be enough to prove that  $G_{v_{q_e}} \supseteq G_{q_e}$ . To see this, let  $g \in G_{q_e}$  and  $v_{q_e} = \xi_Q(q_e) \in \mathfrak{t} \cdot q_e$ , with  $\xi \in \mathfrak{t}$ . Then, since  $G_{q_e}$  is Abelian (because by hypothesis  $G_{q_e} \subset \mathbb{T}$ ), we get

$$\begin{split} T_{q_e} \Psi_g \left( v_{q_e} \right) &= T_{q_e} \Psi_g \left( \xi_{\mathcal{Q}}(q_e) \right) = T_{q_e} \Psi_g \left( \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \Psi_{\exp(t\xi)}(q_e) \right) \\ &= \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \left( \Psi_g \circ \Psi_{\exp(t\xi)} \right) (q_e) = \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} (\Psi_{\exp(t\xi)} \circ \Psi_g) (q_e) \\ &= \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \Psi_{\exp(t\xi)}(q_e) = \xi_{\mathcal{Q}}(q_e) = v_{q_e}, \end{split}$$

that is,  $g \cdot v_{q_e} = v_{q_e}$ , as required.  $\square$ 

The bifurcation problem for relative equilibria on TQ can be regarded as a bifurcation problem on the space  $Q \times \mathfrak{g}^*$  as the following shows.

**Proposition 5.3.** The map  $f: TQ \to Q \times \mathfrak{g}^*$  given by  $v_q \mapsto (q, \mathbf{J}_L(v_q))$  restricted to the set of relative equilibria is one to one and onto its image.

**Proof.** The only thing to be proved is that the map is injective. To see this, let  $(q_1, (\xi_1)_Q(q_1))$  and  $(q_2, (\xi_2)_Q(q_2))$  be two relative equilibria such that  $f(q_1, (\xi_1)_Q(q_1)) = f(q_2, (\xi_2)_Q(q_2))$ . Then  $q_1 = q_2 =: q$  and  $\mathbf{J}_L(q, (\xi_1 - \xi_2)_Q(q)) = \mathbb{I}(q)(\xi_1 - \xi_2)_Q(q)$ 

 $\xi_2)=0$  which shows that  $\xi_1-\xi_2\in\ker\mathbb{I}(q)=\mathfrak{g}_q$  and hence  $(\xi_1)_Q(q)=(\xi_2)_Q(q)$ .  $\square$ 

We can thus change the problem: instead of searching for relative equilibria of the simple mechanical system in TQ, we shall set up a bifurcation problem on  $Q \times q^*$  such that the image of the relative equilibria by the map f is precisely the bifurcating set. To do this, we begin with some geometric considerations. We construct a G-invariant tubular neighborhood of the orbit  $G \cdot q_e$  such that the isotropy group of every point in this neighborhood is a subgroup of  $G_{q_e}$ . This follows from the Tube Theorem 4.2. Indeed, let  $B \subset (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  be a  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant open neighborhood of  $0_{q_e} \in (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  such that on the open G-invariant neighborhood  $G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(B)$  of  $G \cdot q_e$ , we have  $(G_{q_e}) \leq (G_q)$  for every  $q \in G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(B)$ . Moreover G acts freely on  $G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}})$ . It is easy to see that  $B \times g^*$  can be identified with a slice at  $(q_e, 0)$  with respect to the diagonal action of G on  $(G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{a_e}(B)) \times \mathfrak{g}^*$ . The strategy to prove the existence of a bifurcating branch of relative equilibria with no symmetry from the set of relative equilibria  $t \cdot q_e$ is the following. Note that we do not know a priori which relative equilibrium in  $t \cdot q_e$ will bifurcate. We search for a local bifurcating branch of relative equilibria in the following manner. Take a vector  $v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}$  and note that  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e}) \in Q$  is a point with no symmetry, that is,  $G_{\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e})} = \{e\}$ . Then  $\tau v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}$ , for  $\tau \in I$ , where I is an open interval containing [0, 1], and  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})$  is a smooth path connecting  $q_e$ , the base point of the relative equilibrium in  $t \cdot q_e$  containing the branch of bifurcating relative equilibria, to  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e}) \in Q$ . In addition, we shall impose that the entire path  $\text{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})$  be formed by base points of relative equilibria. We still need the vector part of these relative equilibria which we postulate to be of the form  $\zeta(\tau)_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))$ , where  $\zeta(\tau) \in \mathfrak{g}$  is a smooth path of Lie algebra elements with  $\zeta(0) \in t$ . Since  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})$  has no symmetry for  $\tau > 0$ , the locked inertia tensor is invertible at these points and the path  $\zeta(\tau)$  will be of the form

$$\zeta(\tau) = \mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))^{-1}(\beta(\tau)),$$

where  $\beta(\tau)$  is a smooth path in  $g^*$  with  $\beta(0) \in \mathbb{I}(q_e)$ t. Now we shall use the characterization of relative equilibria involving the amended potential to require that the path  $\left(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}), \beta(\tau)\right) \in (G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(B)) \times g^*$  be such that  $f^{-1}(\left(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}), \beta(\tau)\right)$  are all relative equilibria. The amended potential criterion is applicable along the path  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})$  for  $\tau > 0$ , because these points have no symmetry. As we shall see below, we shall look for  $\beta(\tau)$  of a certain form and then the characterization of relative equilibria via the amended potential will impose conditions on both  $\beta(\tau)$  and  $v_{q_e}$ . We begin by specifying the form of  $\beta(\tau)$ .

## 5.2. Splittings

We shall need below certain direct sum decompositions of g and  $g^*$ . The compactness of G implies that g has an invariant inner product and that  $g = t \oplus [g, t]$  is an orthogonal direct sum. Let  $\mathfrak{f}_1 \subset \mathfrak{t}$  be the orthogonal complement to  $\mathfrak{f}_0 := \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$  in  $\mathfrak{t}$ . Denoting  $\mathfrak{f}_2 := \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$  in  $\mathfrak{t}$ .

[g, t] we obtain the orthogonal direct sum  $g = \mathfrak{t}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{t}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{t}_2$ . For the dual of the Lie algebra, let  $\mathfrak{m}_i := (\mathfrak{t}_j \oplus \mathfrak{t}_k)^\circ$  where (i, j, k) is a cyclic permutation of (0, 1, 2). Then  $g^* = \mathfrak{m}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2$  is also an orthogonal direct sum relative to the inner product on  $g^*$  naturally induced by the invariant inner product on g.

**Lemma 5.4.** The subspaces defined by the above splittings have the following properties:

- (i)  $\mathfrak{t}_0$ ,  $\mathfrak{t}_1$ ,  $\mathfrak{t}_2$  are  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant and  $G_{q_e}$  acts trivially on  $\mathfrak{t}_0$  and  $\mathfrak{t}_1$ ;
- (ii)  $m_0$ ,  $m_1$ ,  $m_2$  are  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant and  $G_{q_e}$  acts trivially on  $m_0$  and  $m_1$ .

**Proof.** (i) Because  $G_{q_e}$  is a subgroup of  $\mathbb{T}$  it is obvious that  $G_{q_e}$  acts trivially on  $\mathfrak{t}=\mathfrak{k}_0\oplus\mathfrak{k}_1$  and hence on each summand. To prove the  $G_{q_e}$ -invariance of  $\mathfrak{k}_2=[\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{k}]$ , we use the fact that  $\mathrm{Ad}_g[\xi_1,\xi_2]=[\mathrm{Ad}_g\,\xi_1,\mathrm{Ad}_g\,\xi_2]$ , for any  $\xi_1,\xi_2\in\mathfrak{g}$  and  $g\in G$ . Indeed, if  $\xi_1\in\mathfrak{g},\ \xi_2\in\mathfrak{t},\ g\in G_{q_e}$  we get  $\mathrm{Ad}_g[\xi_1,\xi_2]\in[\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{t}]=\mathfrak{k}_2$ .

(ii) For  $g \in G_{q_e}$ ,  $\mu \in \mathfrak{m}_0$  we have to prove that  $\operatorname{Ad}_g^* \mu \in \mathfrak{m}_0$ . Indeed, if  $\xi = \xi_1 + \xi_2 \in \mathfrak{t}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{t}_2$ , we have

$$\langle \mathrm{Ad}_g^* \, \mu, \, \xi \rangle = \langle \mathrm{Ad}_g^* \, \mu, \, \xi_1 + \xi_2 \rangle = \langle \mu, \, \mathrm{Ad}_g \, (\xi_1 + \xi_2) \rangle$$
$$= \langle \mu, \, \xi_1 + \mathrm{Ad}_g \, \xi_2 \rangle = 0$$

since  $G_{q_e}$  acts trivially on  $\mathfrak{k}_1$ ,  $\mathfrak{k}_2$  is  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant and  $\mathfrak{m}_0=(\mathfrak{k}_1\oplus\mathfrak{k}_2)^\circ$ . The same type of proof holds for  $\mathfrak{m}_1$  and  $\mathfrak{m}_2$ . For  $g\in G_{q_e}$ ,  $\mu\in\mathfrak{m}_0$  we have to prove that  $\mathrm{Ad}_g^*\,\mu=\mu$ . Let  $\xi=\xi_0+\xi_1+\xi_2\in\mathfrak{g}$ , with  $\xi_i\in\mathfrak{k}_i$ , i=0,1,2. We have

$$\begin{split} \langle \operatorname{Ad}_g^* \mu - \mu, \, \xi \rangle &= \langle \operatorname{Ad}_g^* \mu, \, \xi_0 + \xi_1 + \xi_2 \rangle - \langle \mu, \, \xi_0 + \xi_1 + \xi_2 \rangle \\ &= \langle \mu, \operatorname{Ad}_g(\xi_0 + \xi_1 + \xi_2) \rangle - \langle \mu, \, \xi_0 + \xi_1 + \xi_2 \rangle \\ &= \langle \mu, \, \xi_0 + \xi_1 + \operatorname{Ad}_g \, \xi_2 \rangle - \langle \mu, \, \xi_0 \rangle = \langle \mu, \, \xi_1 + \operatorname{Ad}_g \, \xi_2 \rangle = 0 \end{split}$$

because  $G_{q_e}$  acts trivially on  $\mathfrak{k}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{k}_1$ ,  $\mathfrak{k}_2$  is  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant, and  $\mathfrak{m}_0 = (\mathfrak{k}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{k}_2)^\circ$ . The same type of proof holds for  $\mathfrak{m}_1$ .  $\square$ 

Recall from Section 2.3 that  $\ker \mathbb{I}(q_e) = \mathfrak{g}_{q_e} = \mathfrak{f}_0$ . In particular,  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{f}_0 = \{0\}$ . The value of  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)$  on the other summands in the decomposition  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{f}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{f}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{f}_2$  is given by the following lemma.

**Lemma 5.5.** For  $i \in \{1, 2\}$  we have that  $\mathfrak{m}_i = \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{t}_i$ .

**Proof.** Let  $\kappa_i \in \mathfrak{t}_i$  with  $i \in \{0, 1, 2\}$  be arbitrary. Then

$$\langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)\kappa_1, \kappa_0 + \kappa_2 \rangle = \langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)\kappa_1, \kappa_0 \rangle + \langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)\kappa_1, \kappa_2 \rangle = \langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)\kappa_0, \kappa_1 \rangle + \langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)\kappa_1, \kappa_2 \rangle = 0$$

as  $\ker \mathbb{I}(q_e) = \mathfrak{f}_0$  and, by Proposition 5.1 (ii),  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{t} \subset \mathfrak{f}_2^{\circ}$ . This proves that  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{f}_1 \subset \mathfrak{m}_1$ . Counting dimensions we have that  $\dim \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{f}_1 = \dim \mathfrak{f}_1 - \dim \ker \left(\mathbb{I}(q_e)|_{\mathfrak{f}_1}\right) =$ 

 $\dim \mathfrak{g} - \dim \mathfrak{k}_0 - \dim \mathfrak{k}_2 = \dim \mathfrak{m}_1$ , since  $\ker \left( \mathbb{I}(q_e)|_{\mathfrak{k}_1} \right) = \{0\}$ . This proves that  $\mathfrak{m}_1 = \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{k}_1$ . In an analogous way we prove the equality for i = 2.  $\square$ 

In the next paragraph we shall need the direct sum decomposition  $\mathfrak{g}^*=\mathfrak{m}_1\oplus\mathfrak{m}$ , where  $\mathfrak{m}_1=\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{t}$  and  $\mathfrak{m}:=\mathfrak{m}_0\oplus\mathfrak{m}_2$ . Let  $\Pi_1:\mathfrak{g}^*\to\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{t}$  be the projection along  $\mathfrak{m}$ . Similarly, denote  $\mathfrak{t}:=\mathfrak{t}_1\oplus\mathfrak{t}_2$  and write  $\mathfrak{g}=\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}\oplus\mathfrak{t}$ . Thus there is another decomposition of  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ , namely,  $\mathfrak{g}^*=\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}^\circ\oplus\mathfrak{t}^\circ$ . However, for any  $\zeta\in\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$  and any  $\xi\in\mathfrak{g}$ , we have  $\langle\mathbb{I}(q_e)\xi,\zeta\rangle=\langle\langle\xi_Q(q_e),\zeta_Q(q_e)\rangle\rangle=0$  since  $\zeta_Q(q_e)=0$ , which shows that  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}\subset\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}^\circ$ . Since  $\ker\mathbb{I}(q_e)=\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ , it follows that dim  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}=\dim\mathfrak{g}-\dim\mathfrak{g}-\dim\ker\mathbb{I}(q_e)=\dim\mathfrak{g}-\dim\mathfrak{g}-\dim\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ , which shows that  $\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}^\circ=\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}$ . Thus we also have the direct sum decomposition  $\mathfrak{g}^*=\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}\oplus\mathfrak{t}^\circ$ . Note that  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}=\mathfrak{m}_1\oplus\mathfrak{m}_2$ , by Lemma 5.5 and that  $\mathfrak{m}_0=\mathfrak{t}^\circ$ . Summarizing we have:

$$\mathfrak{g}^* = \mathfrak{m}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2 = \mathfrak{k}^\circ \oplus \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}, \quad \text{where} \quad \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2 \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{m}_0 = \mathfrak{k}^\circ.$$

# 5.3. The rescaled equation

In this subsection we shall set up the bifurcation problem that will be studied in detail later on.

Recall that  $B \subset (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  is a  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant open neighborhood of  $0_{q_e} \in (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  such that on the open G-invariant neighborhood  $G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(B)$  of  $G \cdot q_e$ , we have  $(G_{q_e}) \leq (G_q)$  for every  $q \in G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(B)$ . Consider the following rescaling:

$$v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \mapsto \tau v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}$$
  
$$\mu \in \mathfrak{g}^* \mapsto \beta(\tau, \mu) \in \mathfrak{g}^*$$

where,  $\tau \in I$ , I is an open interval containing [0,1], and  $\beta : I \times \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{g}^*$  is chosen such that  $\beta(0,\mu) = \Pi_1 \mu$ . So, for  $(v_{q_e},\mu)$  fixed,  $(\tau v_{q_e},\beta(\tau,\mu))$  converges to  $(0_{q_e},\Pi_1\mu)$  as  $\tau \to 0$ . Define

$$\beta(\tau, \mu) := \Pi_1 \mu + \tau \beta'(\mu) + \tau^2 \beta''(\mu)$$

for some arbitrary smooth functions  $\beta'$ ,  $\beta''$ :  $\mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{g}^*$ . Since  $\mathbb{I}$  is invertible only for points with no symmetry, we want to find conditions on  $\beta'$ ,  $\beta''$  such that the expression

$$\mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))^{-1}\beta(\tau,\mu) \tag{5.1}$$

extends to a smooth function in a neighborhood of  $\tau=0$ . Note that  $v_{q_e}$  is different from  $0_{q_e}$  since  $G_{v_{q_e}}=\{e\}$  by construction and  $G_{0_{q_e}}=G_{q_e}\neq\{e\}$ . Define

$$\Phi: I \times \left(B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}\right) \times \mathfrak{g}^* \times \mathfrak{g}_{q_e} \times \mathfrak{t} \to \mathfrak{g}^*$$

$$\Phi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi, \eta) := \mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))(\xi + \eta) - \beta(\tau, \mu). \tag{5.2}$$

Now we search for the velocity  $\xi + \eta$  of relative equilibria among the solutions of  $\Phi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi, \eta) = 0$ . We shall prove below that  $\xi$  and  $\eta$  are smooth functions of  $\tau$ ,  $v_{q_e}$ ,  $\mu$ , even at  $\tau = 0$ . Then (5.1) shows that  $\xi + \eta$  is a smooth function of  $\tau$ ,  $v_{q_e}$ ,  $\mu$ , for  $\tau$  in a small neighborhood of zero.

# 5.4. The Lyapunov–Schmidt procedure

To solve  $\Phi=0$  we apply the standard Lyapunov–Schmidt method. This equation has a unique solution for  $\tau\neq 0$ , because  $\tau v_{q_e}\in B\cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}$  so  $\mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))$  is invertible. It remains to prove that the equation has a solution when  $\tau=0$ . Denote by  $D_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}\times\mathfrak{f}}$  the Fréchet derivative relative to the last two factors  $\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}\times\mathfrak{f}$  in the definition of  $\Phi$ . We have

$$\ker D_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e} \times \mathfrak{f}} \Phi(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi, \eta) = \ker \mathbb{I}(q_e) = \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}.$$

We will solve the equation  $\Phi = 0$  in two steps. For this, let

$$\Pi: \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}$$

be the projection induced by the splitting  $g^* = \mathbb{I}(q_e)g \oplus f^\circ$ .

Step 1: Solve  $\Pi \circ \Phi = 0$  for  $\eta$  in terms of  $\tau$ ,  $v_{q_e}$ ,  $\mu$ ,  $\xi$ . For this, let

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})) &:= (\Pi \circ \mathbb{I})(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))|_{\mathfrak{f}} : \mathfrak{f} \to \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g} \\ &\stackrel{\sim}{\mathbb{I}}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})) := (\Pi \circ \mathbb{I})(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))|_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}} : \mathfrak{g}_{q_e} \to \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g} \end{split}$$

where  $\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))$  is an isomorphism even when  $\tau=0$ . Then we obtain

$$(\Pi \circ \Phi)(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi, \eta) = \Pi[\mathbb{I}(q_e)(\xi + \eta) - \beta(0, \mu)] = \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)\eta - \Pi_1\mu.$$
 (5.3)

Denoting  $\eta_{\mu} := \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}(\Pi_1\mu)$ , we have  $(\Pi \circ \Phi)(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi, \eta_{\mu}) \equiv 0$ . Denoting by  $D_{\eta}$  the partial Fréchet derivative relative to the variable  $\eta \in \mathfrak{f}$  we get at any given point  $(0, v_{q_e}^0, \mu^0, \xi^0, \eta^0)$ 

$$D_{\eta}(\Pi \circ \Phi)(0, v_{q_e}^0, \mu^0, \xi^0, \eta^0) = \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)$$
(5.4)

which is invertible. Thus the implicit function theorem gives a unique smooth function  $\eta(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu,\xi)$  such that  $\eta(0,v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0,\xi^0)=\eta^0$  and

$$(\Pi \circ \Phi)(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi, \eta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi)) \equiv 0.$$
 (5.5)

The function  $\eta$  is defined in some open set in  $I \times \left(B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}\right) \times \mathfrak{g}^* \times \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$  containing  $(0, v_{q_e}^0, \mu^0, \xi^0) \in \{0\} \times \left(B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}\right) \times \mathfrak{g}^* \times \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ . If we now choose  $\eta^0 = \eta_{\mu^0} = \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}(\Pi_1\mu^0)$ , then uniqueness of the solution of the implicit function theorem implies that  $\eta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = \eta_{\mu}$  in the neighborhood of  $(0, v_{q_e}^0, \mu^0, \xi^0)$ . Later we will need the following result.

**Proposition 5.6.** We have  $\eta_{\mu} := \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}(\Pi_1 \mu) \in \mathfrak{f}_1 \subset \mathfrak{t}$ .

**Proof.** Since we can write  $\mathfrak{t} = \ker \mathbb{I}(q_e) \oplus \mathfrak{t}_1$  we obtain

$$\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)\mathfrak{f}_1 = (\Pi \circ \mathbb{I}(q_e))\mathfrak{f}_1 = \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{f}_1 = \mathbb{I}(q_e)(\mathfrak{f}) = \operatorname{Im}\Pi_1.$$

Now, because  $\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)$  is an isomorphism, it follows that  $\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}(\Pi_1\mu) \in \mathfrak{f}_1$ .  $\square$ 

Step 2: Now we solve the equation  $(Id - \Pi) \circ \Phi = 0$ . For this, let

$$\varphi: I \times \left(B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}\right) \times \mathfrak{g}^* \times \mathfrak{g}_{q_e} \to \mathfrak{f}^{\circ}$$

$$\varphi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) := (Id - \Pi)\Phi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi, \eta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi)). \tag{5.6}$$

In particular,  $\varphi(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = (Id - \Pi)(\mathbb{I}(q_e)(\xi + \eta_{\mu}) - \Pi_1 \mu)$ . Since  $\operatorname{Im} \mathbb{I}(q_e) = \operatorname{Im} \Pi$  and  $\operatorname{Im} \Pi_1 = \mathbb{I}(q_e) \mathfrak{t} \subset \mathbb{I}(q_e) \mathfrak{g}$ , it follows that  $\varphi(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) \equiv 0$ . We shall solve for  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ , in the neighborhood of  $(0, v_{q_e}^0, \mu^0, \xi^0)$  found in Step 1, the equation  $\varphi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = 0$ . To do this, we shall need information about the higher derivatives of  $\varphi$  with respect to  $\tau$ , evaluated at  $\tau = 0$ .

**Lemma 5.7.** Let  $\xi$ ,  $\eta \in \mathfrak{g}$  and  $q \in Q$ . Suppose that  $\mathbf{d}V_{\eta}(q) = 0$ , where  $V_{\eta}$  is the augmented potential and suppose that both  $\xi$  and  $[\xi, \eta]$  belong to  $\mathfrak{g}_q$ . Then  $\mathbf{d}\langle \mathbb{I}(\cdot)\xi, \eta \rangle$  (q) = 0.

**Proof.** Since  $\mathbf{d}V_{\eta}(q) = 0$ ,  $\eta_{Q}(q)$  is a relative equilibrium by Proposition 3.3, that is,  $X_{H}(\alpha_{q}) = \eta_{T^{*}Q}(\alpha_{q})$ , where  $\alpha_{q} = \mathbb{F}L(\eta_{Q}(q))$ . Now suppose that both  $\xi$ ,  $[\xi, \eta] \in \mathfrak{g}_{q}$ . Then

$$\xi_{T^*Q}(\alpha_q) = \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \mathbb{F}L(\exp(t\xi) \cdot \eta_Q(q)) = \mathbb{F}L([\xi, \eta]_Q(q)) = 0,$$

where we have used that  $g \cdot \eta_Q(q) = (\operatorname{Ad}_g \eta)_Q(g \cdot q)$ . It follows that  $(\eta + \xi)_{T^*Q}(\alpha_q) = X_H(\alpha_q)$  and hence, again by Proposition 3.3, that  $0 = \operatorname{\mathbf{d}} V_{\eta + \xi}(q) = \operatorname{\mathbf{d}} V_{\eta}(q) - \operatorname{\mathbf{d}}(\mathbb{I}(\cdot)\eta, \xi)$   $(q) - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{\mathbf{d}} \|\xi_Q(\cdot)\|^2(q)$ . However,  $\operatorname{\mathbf{d}} \|\xi_Q(\cdot)\|^2(q) = 0$  since  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}_q$ , as an easy coordinate computation shows. Since  $\operatorname{\mathbf{d}} V_\eta(q) = 0$  by hypothesis, we have  $\operatorname{\mathbf{d}}(\mathbb{I}(\cdot)\eta, \xi)(q) = 0$ . Symmetry of  $\mathbb{I}(q)$  proves the result.  $\square$ 

Let now  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$  and  $\eta \in \mathfrak{t}$ . Since  $\mathfrak{g}_{q_e} \subset \mathfrak{t}$ , we have  $[\xi, \eta] = 0 \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ . In addition, hypothesis (**H**) and Proposition 3.3, guarantee that  $\mathbf{d}V_{\xi}(q_e) = 0$  which shows that all hypotheses of the previous lemma are satisfied. Therefore,

$$\mathbf{d}\langle \mathbb{I}(\cdot)\xi, \eta \rangle (q_e) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad \xi \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}, \ \eta \in \mathfrak{t}. \tag{5.7}$$

#### 5.5. The bifurcation equation

Now we can proceed with the study of equation  $\varphi = (Id - \Pi) \circ \Phi = 0$ . We have

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \tau} (\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = (Id - \Pi) \left[ T_{\tau v_{q_e}} (\mathbb{I} \circ \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}) (v_{q_e}) (\xi + \eta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi)) \right] 
+ \mathbb{I} (\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e} (\tau v_{q_e})) \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \tau} (\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) - \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial \tau} (\tau, \mu) \right].$$
(5.8)

**Proposition 5.8.**  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \varphi(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) \equiv -(Id - \Pi)\beta'(\mu).$ 

**Proof.** Formula (5.8) gives for  $\tau = 0$ 

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \tau} \left( 0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi \right) &= \left( Id - \Pi \right) \left[ \left. \left( T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \right) (\xi + \eta_{\mu}) \right. \right. \\ &+ \mathbb{I}(q_e) \, \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \tau} \left( 0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi \right) - \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial \tau} \left( 0, \mu \right) \right]. \end{split}$$

Now, because  $\operatorname{Im} \mathbb{I}(q_e) = \operatorname{Im} \Pi$  we obtain  $(Id - \Pi) \circ \mathbb{I}(q_e) = 0$  and hence the second summand vanishes. From (5.7) we have that  $(T_{q_e}\mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}))(t) \subset \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}^{\circ} = \operatorname{Im} \Pi$ . Using Proposition 5.6 and since  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e} \subset t$ , we obtain that  $\xi + \eta_{\mu} \in t$ . Therefore  $(Id - \Pi)[(T_{q_e}\mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}))(\xi + \eta_{\mu})] = 0$ . Since  $\partial \beta/\partial \tau(0, \mu) = \beta'(\mu)$ , we obtain the desired equality.  $\square$ 

Let us impose the additional condition  $\beta'(\mu) \subset \operatorname{Im} \Pi$ . Then it follows that

$$\varphi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = \tau^2 \psi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi)$$

for some smooth function  $\psi$  where

$$\psi(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial \tau^2} (0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi).$$

We begin by solving the equation

$$\psi(0,v_{q_e},\mu,\xi)=0$$

for  $\xi$  as a function of  $v_{q_e}$  and  $\mu$ . Equivalently, we have to solve

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial \tau^2} (0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = 0.$$

To compute this second derivative of  $\varphi$  we shall use (5.8). We begin by noting that  $\tau \in I \mapsto T_{\tau v_{q_e}}(\mathbb{I} \circ \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e})(v_{q_e})$  is a smooth path in  $\mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^*)$  and so we can define the linear operator from  $\mathfrak{g}$  to  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  by

$$A_{v_{q_e}} := \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \right|_{\tau=0} T_{\tau v_{q_e}}(\mathbb{I} \circ \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e})(v_{q_e}) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^*).$$

With this notation, formulas (5.8), (5.2), (5.6), and Proposition 5.6 yield

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial^{2} \varphi}{\partial \tau^{2}} \left( 0, v_{q_{e}}, \mu, \xi \right) &= \left( Id - \Pi \right) \left[ A_{v_{q_{e}}} (\xi + \eta_{\mu}) + 2 T_{q_{e}} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_{e}}) \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \tau} \left( 0, v_{q_{e}}, \mu, \xi \right) \right. \\ &+ \mathbb{I}(q_{e}) \frac{\partial^{2} \eta}{\partial \tau^{2}} \left( 0, v_{q_{e}}, \mu, \xi \right) - 2 \beta''(\mu) \right] \\ &= \left( Id - \Pi \right) \left[ A_{v_{q_{e}}} (\xi + \eta_{\mu}) + 2 T_{q_{e}} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_{e}}) \right. \\ &\left. \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \tau} \left( 0, v_{q_{e}}, \mu, \xi \right) - 2 \beta''(\mu) \right] \end{split} \tag{5.9}$$

since  $(Id-\Pi)\mathbb{I}(q_e)\,\partial^2\eta/\partial\tau^2\,(0,\,v_{q_e},\,\mu,\,\xi)=0$ . Let  $\{\xi_1,\,\ldots,\,\xi_p\}$  be a basis of  $\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ . Since  $\partial^2\varphi(\tau,\,v_{q_e},\,\mu,\,\xi)/\partial\tau^2\in\mathfrak{f}^\circ$  and  $\mathfrak{g}=\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}\oplus\mathfrak{f}$ , the equation  $\partial^2\varphi(0,\,v_{q_e},\,\mu,\,\xi)/\partial\tau^2=0$  is equivalent to the following system of p equations:

$$\left\langle \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial \tau^2} \left( 0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi \right), \xi_b \right\rangle = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad b = 1, \dots, p,$$

which, by (5.9), is

$$\left\langle (Id - \Pi) \left[ A_{v_{q_e}}(\xi + \eta_{\mu}) + 2T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \tau} (0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) - 2\beta''(\mu) \right], \xi_b \right\rangle = 0$$
 for all  $b = 1, \dots, p$ .

We shall show that in this expression we can drop the projector  $Id - \Pi$ . Indeed, let  $\alpha = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 \in \mathfrak{g}^* = \mathfrak{m}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2$ , where  $\alpha_i \in \mathfrak{m}_i$ , for i = 0, 1, 2.

Since  $\Pi: \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2$ , we have

$$\langle (Id - \Pi)\alpha, \xi_b \rangle = \langle \alpha, \xi_b \rangle - \langle \alpha_1, \xi_b \rangle - \langle \alpha_2, \xi_b \rangle = \langle \alpha, \xi_b \rangle$$

because  $\langle \alpha_1, \xi_b \rangle = 0$ , since  $\alpha_1 \in \mathfrak{m}_1 = (\mathfrak{f}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{f}_2)^\circ$ ,  $\xi_b \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e} = \mathfrak{f}_0$ , and  $\langle \alpha_2, \xi_b \rangle = 0$ , since  $\alpha_2 \in \mathfrak{m}_2 = (\mathfrak{f}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{f}_1)^\circ$ ,  $\xi_b \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e} = \mathfrak{f}_0$ . The system to be solved is hence

$$\left\langle A_{v_{q_e}}(\xi + \eta_{\mu}) + 2T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \tau} (0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) - 2\beta''(\mu), \xi_b \right\rangle = 0$$
for all  $b = 1, \dots, p$ . (5.10)

In what follows we need the expression for  $\partial \eta / \partial \tau (0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi)$ . Differentiating (5.5) relative to  $\tau$  at zero and taking into account (5.4) and (5.2), we get

$$\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \tau} (0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = -\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} (\Pi \circ \Phi)(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi, \eta_{\mu})$$

$$= -\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \Pi \left[ T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e})(\xi + \eta_{\mu}) - \beta'(\mu) \right]$$

$$= -\left( \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \right) \xi - \left( \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \right)$$

$$(\Pi_1 \mu) + \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} (\beta'(\mu)) \tag{5.11}$$

since  $T_{q_e} \mathbb{I} = \Pi \circ T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}|_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}}$  and  $T_{q_e} \mathbb{I} = \Pi \circ T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}|_{\mathfrak{f}}$ . Expanding  $\xi$  in the basis  $\{\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_p\}$  as  $\xi = \alpha^i \xi_i$  and taking into account the above expression, system (5.10) is equivalent to the following system of linear equations in the unknowns  $\alpha^1, \ldots, \alpha^p$ :

$$A_{ab}\alpha^a + B_b = 0, \quad a, b = 1, \dots, p,$$

where

$$A_{ab} := \left\langle A_{v_{q_e}} \xi_a, \xi_b \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle \left( T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \right) \xi_a, \xi_b \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle \left( A_{v_{q_e}} \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ \Pi_1 \right) \mu, \xi_b \right\rangle$$

$$-2 \left\langle \left( T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ \Pi_1 \right) \mu, \xi_b \right\rangle$$

$$+2 \left\langle \left( T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \right) \beta'(\mu), \xi_b \right\rangle - \left\langle \beta''(\mu), \xi_b \right\rangle.$$
(5.12)

Denote by  $A:=[A_{ab}]$  the  $p\times p$  matrix with entries  $A_{ab}$ . Thus, if  $v_{q_e}\notin\mathcal{Z}=:\{v_{q_e}\in B\cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}\mid \det A=0\}$  this linear system has a unique solution for  $\alpha^1,\ldots,\alpha^p$ , that is for  $\xi$ , as function of  $v_{q_e}$ ,  $\mu$ . We shall denote this solution by  $\xi_0(v_{q_e},\mu)$ .

Summarizing, if  $v_{q_e} \notin \mathcal{Z}$ , then  $\xi_0(v_{q_e}, \mu)$  is the unique solution of the equation

$$\frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial \tau^2} \left( 0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi \right) = 0. \tag{5.14}$$

**Lemma 5.9.** The set  $\mathcal{Z}$  is closed and  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant in  $B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}$ .

**Proof.** The set  $\mathcal{Z}$  is obviously closed. Since  $\mathfrak{f}$  is  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant it follows that  $\mathfrak{f}^\circ$  is  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant. Formula (2.1) shows that  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}$  is also  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant. Thus the direct sum  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g} \oplus \mathfrak{f}^\circ$  is a  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant decomposition of  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  and therefore  $\Pi:\mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}$  is  $G_{q_e}$ -equivariant. From the  $G_{q_e}$ -equivariance of  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}$  and (2.1), it follows that  $\mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(h \cdot v_{q_e})) = \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}}^* \circ \mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e})) \circ \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}}$ . Therefore,  $\mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(h \cdot v_{q_e}))|_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}} = \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}}^* \circ \mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e}))|_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}}$  for any  $h \in G_{q_e}$  since  $G_{q_e} \subset \mathbb{T}$  and hence  $\operatorname{Ad}_h|_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}} = id$ . Thus

$$\begin{split} \overset{\sim}{\mathbb{I}}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(h \cdot v_{q_e})) &= \Pi \circ \mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(T_{q_e}\Psi_h \cdot v_{q_e}))|_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}} = \Pi \circ \mathrm{Ad}^*_{h^{-1}} \circ \mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e}))|_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}} \\ &= \mathrm{Ad}^*_{h^{-1}} \circ \Pi \circ \mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e}))|_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}} = \mathrm{Ad}^*_{h^{-1}} \circ \overset{\sim}{\mathbb{I}}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e})) \end{split}$$

for all  $h \in G_{q_e}$  and  $v_{q_e} \in B$ . Replacing here  $v_{q_e}$  by  $sv_{q_e}$  and taking the s-derivative at zero shows that  $T_{q_e} \overset{\sim}{\mathbb{I}} (h \cdot v_{q_e}) \xi = \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}}^* \left( T_{q_e} \overset{\sim}{\mathbb{I}} (v_{q_e}) \xi \right)$  for any  $h \in G_{q_e}$  and  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ ,

that is,  $T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e})\xi$  is  $G_{q_e}$ -equivariant as a function of  $v_{q_e}$ , for all  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ . Similarly  $T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(h \cdot v_{q_e}) = \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}}^* \circ T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \circ \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}}$ . From (2.1) and the definition of  $\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}$ , it follows that  $\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} = \operatorname{Ad}_h \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ \operatorname{Ad}_h^*$  for any  $h \in G_{q_e}$ . Thus, for  $h \in G_{q_e}$ , the second summand in  $A_{ab}$  becomes

$$\begin{split} &\left\langle \left( T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(h \cdot v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widetilde{\mathbb{I}}(h \cdot v_{q_e}) \right) \xi_a, \xi_b \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle \left( \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}}^* \circ T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \circ \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}} \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}}^* \circ T_{q_e} \widetilde{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \right) \xi_a, \xi_b \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle \left( \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}}^* \circ T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widetilde{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \right) \xi_a, \xi_b \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle \left( T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widetilde{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \right) \xi_a, \operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}} \xi_b \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle \left( T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widetilde{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \right) \xi_a, \xi_b \right\rangle \end{split}$$

since  $\operatorname{Ad}_{h^{-1}} \xi_b = \xi_b$  because  $h \in G_{q_e}$  and  $\xi_b \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ . This shows that the second summand in  $A_{ab}$  is  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant. Next, we show that the first summand in  $A_{ab}$  is

 $G_{q_e}$ -invariant. To see this note that

$$\begin{split} \left\langle A_{v_{q_e}} \xi_a, \xi_b \right\rangle &= \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \right|_{\tau=0} \left\langle T_{\tau v_{q_e}} (\mathbb{I} \circ \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}) (v_{q_e}) \xi_a, \xi_b \right\rangle \\ &= \left. \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \tau^2} \right|_{\tau=0} \left\langle \mathbb{I} (\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e} (\tau v_{q_e})) \xi_a, \xi_b \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

Therefore, for any  $h \in G_{q_e}$  we get from (2.1)

$$\begin{split} \left\langle A_{h \cdot v_{qe}} \xi_{a}, \xi_{b} \right\rangle &= \left. \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \tau^{2}} \right|_{\tau=0} \left\langle \mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{qe}(\tau h \cdot v_{qe})) \xi_{a}, \xi_{b} \right\rangle \\ &= \left. \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \tau^{2}} \right|_{\tau=0} \left\langle \mathbb{I}(h \cdot \mathrm{Exp}_{qe}(\tau v_{qe})) \xi_{a}, \xi_{b} \right\rangle \\ &= \left. \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \tau^{2}} \right|_{\tau=0} \left\langle \mathrm{Ad}_{h^{-1}}^{*} \mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{qe}(\tau v_{qe})) \mathrm{Ad}_{h^{-1}} \xi_{a}, \xi_{b} \right\rangle \\ &= \left. \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \tau^{2}} \right|_{\tau=0} \left\langle \mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{qe}(\tau v_{qe})) \mathrm{Ad}_{h^{-1}} \xi_{a}, \mathrm{Ad}_{h^{-1}} \xi_{b} \right\rangle \\ &= \left. \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \tau^{2}} \right|_{\tau=0} \left\langle \mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{qe}(\tau v_{qe})) \xi_{a}, \xi_{b} \right\rangle = \left\langle A_{v_{qe}} \xi_{a}, \xi_{b} \right\rangle, \end{split}$$

as required.  $\square$ 

**Proposition 5.10.** The equation  $\varphi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = 0$  for  $(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) \in I \times (B \cap (T_{q_e} Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}) \times \mathfrak{g}^* \times \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$  has a unique smooth solution  $\xi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$  for  $(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) \in I \times (B \cap (T_{q_e} Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}) \times \mathfrak{g}^*$ .

**Proof.** Denote by  $D_{\xi}$  the Fréchet derivative relative to the variable  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ . Recall that  $\xi_0(v_{q_e}, \mu) \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$  is the unique solution of the equation  $\partial^2 \varphi / \partial \tau^2(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = 0$ . Formulas (5.9) and (5.11) yield

$$\frac{\partial^{2} \varphi}{\partial \tau^{2}} (0, v_{q_{e}}, \mu, \xi)$$

$$= (Id - \Pi) \left[ A_{v_{q_{e}}} (\xi + \eta_{\mu}) - 2 \left( T_{q_{e}} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_{e}}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1} \circ T_{q_{e}} \widetilde{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_{e}}) \right) \xi \right]$$

$$- 2 \left( T_{q_{e}} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_{e}}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1} \circ T_{q_{e}} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_{e}}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1} \right) (\Pi_{1}\mu)$$

$$+ 2 \left( T_{q_{e}} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_{e}}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1} \right) (\beta'(\mu)) - 2\beta''(\mu)$$
(5.15)

and hence

$$\begin{split} D_{\xi} & \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial \tau^2} \left( 0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi_0(v_{q_e}, \mu) \right) \\ &= (Id - \Pi) \left[ A_{v_{q_e}} |_{\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}} - 2T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \stackrel{\sim}{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \right] : \mathfrak{g}_{q_e} \to \mathfrak{f}^{\circ}. \end{split}$$

We shall prove that this linear map is injective. To see this, note that relative to the basis  $\{\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_p\}$  of  $\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$  this linear operator has matrix A by (5.12). Thus, if  $v_{q_e} \notin \mathcal{Z}$ , this matrix is invertible. In particular, this linear operator is injective.

Since  $g=g_{q_e}\oplus f$ , it follows that  $\dim g_{q_e}=\dim g-\dim f=\dim f^\circ$ , so the injectivity of the map  $D_\xi(\partial^2\varphi/\partial\tau^2)(0,v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0,\xi_0(v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0))$  implies that it is an isomorphism. Therefore, if  $v_{q_e}\in B\cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}\setminus \mathcal{Z}$  is near  $v_{q_e}^0$ , the implicit function theorem, guarantees the existence of an open neighborhood  $V_0\subset I\times (B\cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}\setminus \mathcal{Z})\times g^*$  containing  $(0,v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0)\in\{0\}\times (B\cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}\setminus \mathcal{Z})\times g^*$  and of a unique smooth function  $\xi:V_0\to g_{q_e}$  satisfying  $\varphi(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu,\xi(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu))=0$  such that  $\xi(0,v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0)=\xi_0(v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0)$ . On the other hand, for  $\tau\neq 0$ , the equation  $\varphi(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu,\cdot)=0$  has a unique solution for  $\xi$ , namely the  $g_{q_e}$ -component of  $\mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_q}(\tau v_{q_e}))^{-1}\beta(\tau,\mu)$ , which is a smooth function of  $\tau,v_{q_e},\mu$ . This is true since  $\xi+\eta=\mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_q}(\tau v_{q_e}))^{-1}\beta(\tau,\mu)$  by construction and we determined the two components  $\xi\in g_{q_e}$  and  $\eta\in \mathfrak{f}$  in  $g=g_{q_e}\oplus \mathfrak{f}$  via the Lyapunov–Schmidt method, precisely in order that this equality be satisfied. Therefore, the solution  $\xi(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu)$  obtained above by the implicit function theorem must coincide with the  $g_{q_e}$ -component of  $\mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_q}(\tau v_{q_e}))^{-1}\beta(\tau,\mu)$  for  $\tau>0$ . Since this entire argument involving the Lyapunov–Schmidt procedure was carried out for any  $(v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0)$ , it follows that the equation  $\varphi(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu,\xi)=0$  has a unique smooth solution  $\xi(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu)\in g_{q_e}$  for  $(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu)\in I\times (B\cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}\setminus \mathcal{Z})\times g^*$ .  $\square$ 

**Remark 5.11.** The previous proposition says that if we define

$$\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) = \mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))^{-1}\beta(\tau, \mu)$$

on  $(I \setminus \{0\}) \times (B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}) \times g^*$ , then  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)$  can be smoothly extended for  $\tau = 0$ . We have, in fact,  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) = \xi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) + \eta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu))$ , where  $\eta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi)$  was found in the first step of the Lyapunov–Schmidt procedure and  $\xi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)$  in the second step, as given in Proposition 5.10. Note also that  $\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu) = \xi_0(v_{q_e}, \mu) + \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}\Pi_1\mu \in \mathfrak{t}$ .

#### 5.6. A simplified version of the amended potential criterion

At this point we have a candidate for a bifurcating branch from the set of relative equilibria  $t \cdot q_e$ . This branch will start at  $\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu)_Q(q_e) \in t \cdot q_e \subset T_{q_e}Q$ . By Lemma 5.2, the isotropy subgroup of  $\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu)_Q(q_e)$  equals  $G_{q_e}$ , for any  $v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}$ 

and  $\mu \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ . The isotropy groups of the points on the curve  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))$ , for  $\tau \neq 0$ , are all trivial, by construction. Hence  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))$  is a curve that has the properties of the bifurcating branch of relative equilibria with broken symmetry that we are looking for. We do not know yet that all points on this curve are in fact relative equilibria. Thus, we shall search for conditions on  $v_{q_e}$  and  $\mu$  that guarantee that each point on the curve  $\tau \mapsto \zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))$  is a relative equilibrium. This will be done by using the amended potential criterion (see Proposition 3.4) which is applicable because all base points of this curve, namely  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})$ , have trivial isotropy for  $\tau \neq 0$ .

To carry this out, we need some additional geometric information. From standard theory of proper Lie group actions (see e.g. [4,7], or Section 2.3) it follows that the map

$$[v_{q_e}, \mu]_{G_{q_e}} \in (B \times \mathfrak{g}^*)/G_{q_e} \longmapsto [\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e}), \mu]_G \in ((G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}B) \times \mathfrak{g}^*)/G \quad (5.16)$$

is a homeomorphism of  $(B \times g^*)/G_{q_e}$  with  $((G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e} B) \times g^*)/G$  and that its restriction to  $((B \cap (T_{q_e} Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}) \times g^*)/G_{q_e}$  is a diffeomorphism onto its image. We think of a pair  $(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e}), \mu)$  as the base point of a relative equilibrium and its momentum value. All these relative equilibria come in G-orbits. The homeomorphism (5.16) allows the identification of G-orbits of relative equilibria with  $G_{q_e}$ -orbits of certain pairs  $(v_{q_e}, \mu)$ . We shall work in what follows on both sides of this identification, based on convenience. We will need the following lemma, which is a special case of stability of the transversality of smooth maps (see e.g. [5]).

**Lemma 5.12.** Let G be a Lie group acting on a Riemannian manifold Q,  $q \in Q$ , and let  $\mathfrak{k} \subset \mathfrak{g}$  be a subspace satisfying  $\mathfrak{k} \cap \mathfrak{g}_q = \{0\}$ . Let  $V \subset T_q Q$  be a subspace such that  $\mathfrak{k} \cdot q \oplus V = T_q Q$ . Then there is an  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that if  $\|v_q\| < \varepsilon$ ,

$$T_{\operatorname{Exp}_q(v_q)}Q = \mathfrak{k} \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_q(v_q) \oplus (T_{v_q}\operatorname{Exp}_q)V.$$

To deal with G-orbits of relative equilibria, we need a different splitting of the same nature. The following result is modeled on a proposition in [6].

**Proposition 5.13.** Let  $v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}$  be given. Consider the principal  $G_{q_e}$ -bundle  $B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z} \to [B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}]/G_{q_e}$  (this is implied by Lemma 5.9). Let  $\widetilde{U}$  be a neighborhood of  $[0_{q_e}] \in (T_{q_e}Q)/G_{q_e}$  and define the open set  $U := \widetilde{U} \cap [B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}]/G_{q_e}$  in  $[B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}]/G_{q_e}$ . Let  $\sigma : U \subset [B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}) \setminus \mathcal{Z}]/G_{q_e} \to B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}$  be a smooth section,  $[v_{q_e}] \in U$ , and  $\overline{\sigma} := \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e} \circ \sigma : U \to Q$ . Then there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that for  $0 < \tau < \varepsilon$  sufficiently small, we have

$$T_{\overline{\sigma}([\tau v_{q_e}])}Q = \mathfrak{t} \cdot \overline{\sigma}([\tau v_{q_e}]) \oplus T_{[\tau v_{q_e}]}\overline{\sigma}(T_{[\tau v_{q_e}]}U)$$
$$\oplus (T_{\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}])}\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e})(\mathfrak{t}_2 \cdot q_e).$$

**Proof.** Since  $g = f_0 \oplus f_1 \oplus f_2$  and  $f_0 = g_{q_e}$  we have  $T_{q_e}Q = f_1 \cdot q_e \oplus f_2 \cdot q_e \oplus (g \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$ . Apply the above lemma with  $f = f_1$  and  $V = f_2 \cdot q_e \oplus (g \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$ . For the  $\varepsilon > 0$  in the statement choose  $\tau$  such that  $0 < \tau < \varepsilon$  and  $\|\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}])\| < \varepsilon$ . Then

$$T_{\overline{\sigma}([\tau v_{q_e}])}Q = \mathfrak{f}_1 \cdot \overline{\sigma}([\tau v_{q_e}]) \oplus (T_{\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}])} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e})(\mathfrak{f}_2 \cdot q_e \oplus (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp})$$

$$= \mathfrak{f}_1 \cdot \overline{\sigma}([\tau v_{q_e}]) \oplus (T_{\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}])} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e})((\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp})$$

$$\oplus (T_{\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}])} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e})(\mathfrak{f}_2 \cdot q_e)$$
(5.17)

since  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}$  is a diffeomorphism on  $B\subset (\mathfrak{g}\cdot q_e)^{\perp}$ . Since  $(\sigma,U)$  is a smooth local section,  $\mathcal Z$  is closed and  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant in  $B\cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}$ , and  $(T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}$  is open in  $T_{q_e}Q$ , it follows that  $B\cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}}$  is open in  $(\mathfrak{g}\cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  and thus we get

$$(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp} = T_{\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}])}(B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}) = T_{[\tau v_{q_e}]}\sigma(T_{[\tau v_{q_e}]}U) \oplus \mathfrak{t}_0 \cdot \sigma([\tau v_{q_e}]),$$

where  $\mathfrak{k}_0 \cdot \sigma([\tau v_{q_e}]) = \{\zeta_{T_{q_e}Q}(\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}]) \mid \zeta \in \mathfrak{k}_0\}$ . The  $G_{q_e}$ -equivariance of  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}$  implies that

$$T_{u_{q_e}}\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\xi_{T_{q_e}Q}(u_{q_e})) = \xi_Q(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(u_{q_e})) \quad \text{for all} \quad \xi \in \mathfrak{f}_0, \ u_{q_e} \in T_{q_e}Q$$

and hence

$$(T_{\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}])} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e})((\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp})$$

$$= (T_{\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}])} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e} \circ T_{[\tau v_{q_e}]} \sigma)(T_{[\tau v_{q_e}]} U) \oplus (T_{\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}])} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e})(\mathfrak{f}_0 \cdot \sigma([\tau v_{q_e}]))$$

$$= T_{[\tau v_{q_e}]} \overline{\sigma}(T_{[\tau v_{q_e}]} U) \oplus \mathfrak{f}_0 \cdot \overline{\sigma}([\tau v_{q_e}]). \tag{5.18}$$

Introducing (5.18) in (5.17) and taking into account that  $t = f_0 \oplus f_1$  we get the statement of the proposition.  $\square$ 

We want to find pairs  $(v_{q_e}, \mu)$  such that  $\mathbf{d}V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})) = 0$  for  $\tau > 0$ . Since  $V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}$  is  $G_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}$ -invariant, this condition will hold if we originally verify it on a subspace of  $T_{\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})}Q$  complementary to  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}\cdot\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}) = \mathbf{t}\cdot\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})$ . The previous decomposition of the tangent space immediately yields the following result.

**Corollary 5.14.** Suppose that  $\mu \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  is such that  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta(\tau,\mu)} = \mathfrak{t}$  for all  $\tau$  in a neighborhood of zero. Let U and  $\overline{\sigma}$  be as in Proposition 5.13,  $[v_{q_e}] \in U$ , and  $\overline{\sigma} := \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e} \circ \overline{\sigma}$ . Then there is an  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $\mathbf{d}V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}(\overline{\sigma}([\tau v_{q_e}])) = 0$  if and only if  $\mathbf{d}(V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)} \circ \overline{\sigma})([\tau v_{q_e}]) = 0$  and  $\mathbf{d}(V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)} \circ \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e})(\sigma([\tau v_{q_e}]))|_{\mathfrak{t}_2 : q_e} = 0$  for  $0 < \tau < \varepsilon$ .

# 5.7. The study of two auxiliary functions

In this technical subsection we shall blow up the amended potential in order to be able to extend it also at the value  $\tau = 0$ . This will be done by introducing two auxiliary functions whose properties we shall investigate below.

Let I be an open interval containing zero. Recall that  $p = \dim \mathfrak{g}_{q_e} = \dim \mathfrak{m}_0$ . Let  $\vartheta_1$  be an element of a basis  $\{\vartheta_1, \vartheta_2, \dots, \vartheta_p\}$  for  $\mathfrak{m}_0$  and define  $\beta: (I\setminus\{0\})\times (\mathfrak{m}_1\oplus\mathfrak{m}_2)\to \mathfrak{g}^*$  by

$$\beta(\tau, \mu) = \Pi_1 \mu + \tau \Pi_2 \mu + \tau^2 \vartheta_1,$$

where  $\Pi_1: \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{m}_1 = \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{t}$  and  $\Pi_2: \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{m}_2 = \mathfrak{t}^{\circ}$ . Notice that this function is a particular case of

$$\beta(\tau, \mu) = \Pi_1 \mu + \tau \beta'(\mu) + \tau^2 \beta''(\mu),$$

by choosing  $\beta'(\mu) = \Pi_2 \mu$  and  $\beta''(\mu) = \vartheta_1$ . Recall that  $\mathbb{I}(q_e) = \mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2$  by Lemma 5.5 and that  $\mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e) = \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}$  from the definition of  $\mathbf{J}_L$ .

**Theorem 5.15.** The smooth function  $F_1: I \times U \times \mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e) \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$F_1(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu) := (V_{\beta(\tau, \mu)} \circ \overline{\sigma})(\tau[v_{q_e}])$$

can be extended to a smooth function on  $I \times U \times \mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)$ , also denoted by  $F_1$ . In addition

$$F_1(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu) = F_0(\mu) + \tau^2 F(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu),$$

where  $F_0$ , F are defined on  $\mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)$  and on  $I \times U \times \mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)$  respectively.

**Proof.** Denote  $v_{q_e} := \sigma([v_{q_e}]) \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}$ . One can easily see that

$$\begin{split} (V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)} \circ \overline{\sigma})(\tau[v_{q_e}]) &= V(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \beta(\tau,\mu), \mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))^{-1} \beta(\tau,\mu) \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

By Remark 5.11, the second term is smooth even in a neighborhood of  $\tau=0$ . Since the first term is obviously smooth, it follows that  $V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}\circ \overline{\sigma}$  is smooth also in a neighborhood of  $\tau=0$ . This is the smooth extension of  $F_1$  in the statement.

Let  $\{\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_p\}$  be a basis for  $\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}\subset\mathfrak{t}$ . Then, again by Remark 5.11, we have

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{I}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))^{-1}\beta(\tau,\mu) \\ &= \sum_{q=1}^{p} \alpha_a(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) \xi_a + \eta \left(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \sum_{q=1}^{p} \alpha_a(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) \xi_a\right), \end{split}$$

where  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_p, \eta$  are smooth real functions of all their arguments. In what follows we will denote

$$\eta\left(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \sum_{a=1}^{p} \alpha_a(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) \xi_a\right) = \eta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \alpha_1(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu), \dots, \alpha_p(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)).$$

Let  $\mu \in \mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e) = \mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2$  and  $v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}$ . Since, in the computations that follow, the arguments  $v_{q_e}$  and  $\mu$  play the role of parameters, we shall denote temporarily  $\alpha_a(\tau) = \alpha_a(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)$ ,  $a \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$ , and  $\eta(\tau, \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_p) = \eta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \alpha_1(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu), \ldots, \alpha_p(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu))$ . Then by (5.11) we get

$$\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \tau}(0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_p) = -\sum_{a=1}^p \alpha_a \left(\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e})\right) \xi_a 
- \left(\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}\right) \Pi_1 \mu + \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \Pi_2 \mu.$$

Formula (5.3) shows that

$$\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \alpha_a} (0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_p) = 0.$$

Note that

$$V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))\big|_{\tau=0} = V(q_e) + \frac{1}{2} \Big\langle \Pi_1 \mu, \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \Pi_1 \mu \Big\rangle$$

is independent of  $v_{q_e}$ . This shows that  $F_1(0, [v_{q_e}], \mu) = F_0(\mu)$  for some smooth function on  $\mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2$ . Using Remark 5.11, we get

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{d\tau} \bigg|_{\tau=0} V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})) \\ &= \mathbf{d}V(q_e)(v_{q_e}) + \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \Pi_2 \mu, \sum_{a=1}^p \alpha_a(0) \xi_a + \eta(0,\alpha_1,\dots,\alpha_p) \right\rangle \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \Pi_1 \mu, \sum_{a=1}^p \frac{\partial \alpha_a}{\partial \tau} \left( 0 \right) \left( \xi_a + \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \alpha_a} \left( 0,\alpha_1,\dots,\alpha_p \right) \right) + \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \tau} \left( 0,\alpha_1,\dots,\alpha_p \right) \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

The first term  $dV(q_e) = 0$  by Proposition 5.1 (i). Since  $\eta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi) = \eta_{\mu} = \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}\Pi_1\mu \in \mathfrak{t}$  by Proposition 5.6, we get

$$\sum_{a=1}^{p} \alpha_a(0)\xi_a + \eta(0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_p) = \sum_{a=1}^{p} \alpha_a(0)\xi_a + \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}\Pi_1\mu \in \mathfrak{t}.$$

Thus the second term vanishes because  $\mathfrak{m}_2=\mathfrak{t}^\circ$ . As  $\partial \eta/\partial \alpha_a(0,\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_p)=0$  and  $\mathfrak{m}_1$  annihilates  $\mathfrak{g}_{a_e}$ , the third term becomes

$$\left\langle \Pi_{1}\mu, \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \tau} (0, \alpha_{1}, \dots, \alpha_{p}) \right\rangle = -\sum_{a=1}^{p} \alpha_{a} \left\langle \Pi_{1}\mu, \left( \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1} \circ T_{q_{e}} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_{e}}) \right) \xi_{a} \right\rangle 
- \left\langle \Pi_{1}\mu, \left( \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1} \circ T_{q_{e}} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_{e}}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1} \right) \Pi_{1}\mu \right\rangle 
+ \left\langle \Pi_{1}\mu, \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1}\Pi_{2}\mu \right\rangle.$$

We will prove that each summand in this expression vanishes.

• Since  $\langle \mathfrak{m}_0, \mathfrak{f}_1 \rangle = 0$ , we get

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \Pi_{1}\mu, \left( \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1} \circ T_{q_{e}} \stackrel{\sim}{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_{e}}) \right) \xi_{a} \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle T_{q_{e}} \stackrel{\sim}{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_{e}}) \xi_{a}, \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1} \Pi_{1}\mu \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle T_{q_{e}} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_{e}}) \xi_{a}, \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_{e})^{-1} \Pi_{1}\mu \right\rangle = \mathbf{d} \left\langle \mathbb{I}(\cdot) \xi_{a}, \eta_{\mu} \right\rangle (q_{e})(v_{q_{e}}) = 0 \end{split}$$

by (5.7) because  $\xi_a \in \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$  and  $\eta_{\mu} \in \mathfrak{t}$ . Thus the first summand vanishes.

• The second summand equals

$$\left\langle \Pi_1 \mu, \left( \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \circ T_{q_e} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \circ \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \right) \Pi_1 \mu \right\rangle = \left\langle T_{q_e} \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(v_{q_e}) \eta_{\mu}, \eta_{\mu} \right\rangle = \left\langle T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(v_{q_e}) \eta_{\mu}, \eta_{\mu} \right\rangle$$

because  $\langle \mathfrak{m}_0, \mathfrak{k}_1 \rangle = 0$ . We shall prove that this term vanishes in the following way. Recall that  $\eta_{\mu} \in \mathfrak{k}_1 \subset \mathfrak{t}$ . For any  $\zeta \in \mathfrak{k}$ , hypothesis (**H**) states that  $\zeta_Q(q_e)$  is a relative equilibrium and thus, by the augmented potential criterion (see Proposition 3.3),  $\mathbf{d}V_{\zeta}(q_e) = 0$ . Since

$$\mathbf{d}V_{\zeta}(q_e)(u_{q_e}) = \mathbf{d}V(q_e)(u_{q_e}) - \frac{1}{2} \left\langle T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(u_{q_e})\zeta, \zeta \right\rangle$$

for any  $u_{q_e} \in T_{q_e}Q$  and  $dV(q_e) = 0$  by Proposition 5.1 (i), it follows that  $\langle T_{q_e} \mathbb{I}(u_{q_e})\zeta, \zeta \rangle = 0$ . Thus the second summand vanishes.

• The third summand is

$$\langle \Pi_1 \mu, \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1} \Pi_2 \mu \rangle = \langle \Pi_2 \mu, \eta_{\mu} \rangle = 0$$

because  $m_2 = t^{\circ}$ .

So, we finally conclude that

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\bigg|_{\tau=0} V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})) = 0$$

and hence, by Taylor's theorem, we have

$$F_1(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu) = F_0(\mu) + \tau^2 F(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu)$$

for some smooth function F.  $\square$ 

**Theorem 5.16.** The smooth function  $G_1: (I \setminus \{0\}) \times U \times \mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e) \to \mathfrak{t}_2^*$  defined by

$$\left\langle G_1(\tau,[v_{q_e}],\mu),\varsigma\right\rangle = \mathbf{d}(V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}\circ \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e})(\sigma(\tau[v_{q_e}]))\left(\varsigma_Q(q_e)\right),\quad\varsigma\in\mathfrak{f}_2,$$

can be smoothly extended to a function on  $I \times U \times \mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)$ , also denoted by  $G_1$ . In addition,

$$G_1(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu) = \tau G(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu)$$

where  $G: I \times U \times \mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e) \to \mathfrak{f}_2^*$  is a smooth function.

**Proof.** We will show that  $G_1$  is a smooth function at  $\tau = 0$  and that  $G_1(0, [v_{q_e}], \mu) = 0$ . Let  $v_{q_e} = \sigma([v_{q_e}])$ . Then

$$\begin{split} &\left\langle G_{1}(\tau, [v_{q_{e}}], \mu), \varsigma \right\rangle \\ &= \mathbf{d}V_{\beta(\tau, \mu)} \left( \operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}}(\tau v_{q_{e}}) \right) \left( T_{\tau v_{q_{e}}} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}} \left( \varsigma_{Q}(q_{e}) \right) \right) \\ &= \mathbf{d}V (\operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}}(\tau v_{q_{e}})) \left( T_{\tau v_{q_{e}}} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}} \left( \varsigma_{Q}(q_{e}) \right) \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \beta(\tau, \mu), \ T_{\operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}}(\tau v_{q_{e}})} (\mathbb{I}(\cdot)^{-1}) \left( T_{\tau v_{q_{e}}} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}} \left( \varsigma_{Q}(q_{e}) \right) \right) \beta(\tau, \mu) \right\rangle \\ &= \mathbf{d}V \left( \operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}}(\tau v_{q_{e}}) \right) \left( T_{\tau v_{q_{e}}} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}} \left( \varsigma_{Q}(q_{e}) \right) \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \beta(\tau, \mu), \right. \\ &\left[ \mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}}(\tau v_{q_{e}}))^{-1} \circ T_{\operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}}(\tau v_{q_{e}})} \mathbb{I} \left( T_{\tau v_{q_{e}}} \operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}} \left( \varsigma_{Q}(q_{e}) \right) \right) \right. \\ &\circ \mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_{e}}(\tau v_{q_{e}}))^{-1} \right] \beta(\tau, \mu) \right\rangle \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \mathbf{d} V \left( \mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}) \right) \left( T_{\tau v_{q_e}} \mathrm{Exp}_{q_e} \left( \varsigma_Q(q_e) \right) \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu), \ T_{\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})} \mathbb{I} \left( T_{\tau v_{q_e}} \mathrm{Exp}_{q_e} \left( \varsigma_Q(q_e) \right) \right) \zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) \right\rangle, \end{split}$$

where  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu) := \mathbb{I}^{-1}((\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))\beta(\tau, \mu)$ . Since  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)$  is smooth in all variables also at  $\tau = 0$  by Remark 5.11, it follows that  $\langle G_1(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu), \varsigma \rangle$  is a smooth function of all its variables. Its expression at  $\tau = 0$  equals

$$\begin{split} &\langle G_1(0, [v_{q_e}], \mu), \varsigma \rangle \\ &= \mathbf{d}V(q_e)(\varsigma_Q(q_e)) - \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu), \ T_{q_e} \mathbb{I} \left( \varsigma_Q(q_e) \right) \zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu) \right\rangle \\ &= \mathbf{d}V(q_e)(\varsigma_Q(q_e)) - \frac{1}{2} \left\langle (\mathbb{I}(q_e)[\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu), \varsigma], \zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu) \right\rangle \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu), [\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu), \varsigma] \right\rangle \\ &= \mathbf{d}V(q_e)(\varsigma_Q(q_e)) - \left\langle \mathbb{I}(q_e)\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu), [\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu), \varsigma] \right\rangle \end{split}$$

by (2.3). Since V is G-invariant it follows that  $\mathbf{d}V(q_e)(\varsigma_Q(q_e))=0$ . Since  $\zeta(0,v_{q_e},\mu)=\xi(0,v_{q_e},\mu)+\eta_{\mu}\in\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}\oplus\mathfrak{k}_1=\mathfrak{t}$  (see Remark 5.11) it follows that  $[\zeta(0,v_{q_e},\mu),\varsigma]\in[\mathfrak{t},\mathfrak{g}]$ . By Proposition 5.1 (ii), we have  $\mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{t}\subset[\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{t}]^\circ$  and hence the second term above also vanishes. Thus we get  $\langle G_1(0,[v_{q_e}],\mu),\varsigma\rangle=0$  for any  $\varsigma\in\mathfrak{k}_2$ , that is,  $G_1(0,[v_{q_e}],\mu)=0$  which proves the theorem.  $\square$ 

# 5.8. Bifurcating branches of relative equilibria with trivial symmetry

With all the technical results obtained so far, we return now to the original bifurcation problem and look for families of branches along which the symmetry is trivial.

Let  $(Q, \langle\!\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle\!\rangle_Q, V, G)$  be a simple mechanical G-system, with G a compact Lie group with the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Let  $q_e \in Q$  be a symmetric point whose isotropy group  $G_{q_e}$  is contained in a maximal torus  $\mathbb{T}$  of G. Denote by  $\mathfrak{t} \subset \mathfrak{g}$  the Lie algebra of  $\mathbb{T}$ . Let  $B \subset (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  be a  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant open neighborhood of  $0_{q_e} \in (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  such that the exponential map is injective on B and for any  $q \in G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(B)$  the isotropy subgroup  $G_q$  is conjugate to a (not necessarily proper) subgroup of  $G_{q_e}$ . Define the closed  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant subset  $\mathcal{Z}_{\mu^0} =: \{v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \mid \det A = 0\}$ , where  $\mu^0 \in \mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2$  is arbitrarily chosen and the entries of the matrix A are given in (5.12). Let  $U \subset [B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_{\{e\}} \setminus \mathcal{Z}_{\mu^0}]/G_{q_e}$  be open and consider the functions F and G given in Theorems 5.15 and 5.16. Define  $G^i : I \times U \times (\mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2) \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$G^{i}(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu_1 + \mu_2) := \langle G(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu_1 + \mu_2), \varsigma_i \rangle,$$

where  $\{\zeta_i \mid i=1,\ldots,\dim \mathfrak{k}_2\}$  is a basis for  $\mathfrak{k}_2$ . Choose  $([v_{q_e}],\mu_1+\mu_2)\in U\times (\mathfrak{m}_1\oplus \mathfrak{m}_2)$ such that

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial \mu}(0, [v_{q_e}], \mu_1 + \mu_2) = 0,$$

where the partial derivative is taken relative to the variable  $u \in U$ . Define the matrix

$$\Delta_{([v_{q_e}],\mu_1,\mu_2)} := \left[ \begin{array}{ll} \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial u^2} \left( 0, [v_{q_e}], \, \mu_1 + \mu_2 \right) & \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial \mu_2 \partial u} \left( 0, [v_{q_e}], \, \mu_1 + \mu_2 \right) \\ \frac{\partial G^i}{\partial u} \left( 0, [v_{q_e}], \, \mu_1 + \mu_2 \right) & \frac{\partial G^i}{\partial \mu_2} \left( 0, [v_{q_e}], \, \mu_1 + \mu_2 \right) \end{array} \right],$$

where the partial derivatives are evaluated at  $\tau = 0$ ,  $[v_{q_e}]$ ,  $\mu = \mu_1 + \mu_2$ . Here  $\partial/\partial \mu_2$ denotes the partial derivative with respect to the  $m_2$ -component  $\mu_2$  of  $\mu$ . In the framework and the notations introduced above we will state and prove the main result of this section. Let  $\pi: TQ \to (TQ)/G$  be the canonical projection and  $\mathcal{R}_e := \pi(\mathfrak{t} \cdot q_e)$ .

# **Theorem 5.17.** Assume the following:

**(H)** every  $v_{q_e} \in t \cdot q_e$  is a relative equilibrium.

If there is a point  $([v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0 + \mu_2^0) \in U \times (\mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2)$  such that

- $\begin{array}{ll} (1) & \frac{\partial F}{\partial u} \ (0, [v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0 + \mu_2^0) = 0, \\ (2) & G^i \ (0, [v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0 + \mu_2^0) = 0 \\ (3) & \Delta_{\left([v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0, \mu_2^0\right)} \ \ is \ non-degenerate, \end{array}$

then there exists a family of continuous curves  $\gamma^{\mu_1}_{\left([v_{Q_p}^0],\mu_1^0,\mu_2^0\right)}:[0,1]\to (TQ)/G$  parameterized by  $\mu_1$  in a small neighborhood  $\mathcal{V}_0$  of  $\mu_1^0$  consisting of classes of relative equilibria with trivial isotropy on  $\gamma^{\mu_1}_{([v_{q_p}^0],\mu_1^0,\mu_2^0)}(0,1)$  satisfying

$$\operatorname{Im} \gamma^{\mu_1}_{\left([v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0, \mu_2^0\right)} \bigcap \mathcal{R}_e = \left\{ \gamma^{\mu_1}_{\left([v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0, \mu_2^0\right)}(0) \right\}$$

and  $\gamma^{\mu_1}_{\left([v_{d_e}^0], \mu_1^0, \mu_2^0\right)}(0) = [\zeta_Q(q_e)], \text{ where } \zeta = \widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}\mu_1 \in \mathfrak{t}.$ 

For  $\mu_1, \mu_1' \in \mathcal{V}_0$  with  $\mu_1 \neq \mu_1'$ , where  $\mathcal{V}_0$  is as above, these branches do not intersect, that is,

$$\left\{ \left. \gamma^{\mu_1}_{\left( [v^0_{q_e}], \mu^0_1, \mu^0_2 \right)}(\tau) \, \right| \, \tau \in [0, 1] \right\} \bigcap \left\{ \left. \gamma^{\mu'_1}_{\left( [v^0_{q_e}], \mu^0_1, \mu^0_2 \right)}(\tau) \, \right| \, \tau \in [0, 1] \right\} = \varnothing.$$

Suppose that  $([v_{a_n}^0], \mu_1^0, \mu_2^0) \neq ([v_{a_n}^1], \mu_1^1, \mu_2^1).$ 

(i) If  $\mu_1^0 \neq \mu_1^1$  then the families of relative equilibria do not intersect, that is,

$$\begin{split} \left\{ \gamma^{\mu_{1}}_{\left( [v_{q_{e}}^{0}], \mu_{1}^{0}, \mu_{2}^{0} \right)}(\tau) \, \middle| \, (\tau, \mu_{1}) \in [0, 1] \times \mathcal{V}_{0} \right\} \\ & \bigcap \left\{ \gamma^{\mu'_{1}}_{\left( [v_{q_{e}}^{1}], \mu_{1}^{1}, \mu_{2}^{1} \right)}(\tau) \, \middle| \, (\tau, \mu'_{1}) \in [0, 1] \times \mathcal{V}_{1} \right\} = \varnothing, \end{split}$$

where  $V_0$  and  $V_1$  are two small neighborhoods of  $\mu_1^0$  and  $\mu_1^1$  respectively such that

 $\begin{array}{l} \mathcal{V}_0 \cap \mathcal{V}_1 = \varnothing. \\ \text{(ii)} \ \ \textit{If} \ \ \mu_1^0 = \mu_1^1 = \overline{\mu} \ \textit{and} \ \ [v_{q_e}^0] \neq [v_{q_e}^1] \ \textit{then} \ \ \gamma_{\left([v_{q_e}^0],\overline{\mu},\mu_2^0\right)}^{\overline{\mu}}(0) = \gamma_{\left([v_{q_e}^1],\overline{\mu},\mu_2^1\right)}^{\overline{\mu}}(0) \ \textit{and for} \ \tau > 0 \end{array}$ we have

$$\left\{ \left. \gamma^{\overline{\mu}}_{\left( \left[ v_{q_e}^0 \right], \overline{\mu}, \mu_2^0 \right)}(\tau) \, \right| \, \tau \in (0, 1] \right\} \bigcap \left\{ \left. \gamma^{\overline{\mu}}_{\left( \left[ v_{q_e}^1 \right], \overline{\mu}, \mu_2^1 \right)}(\tau) \, \right| \, \tau \in (0, 1] \right\} = \varnothing.$$

**Proof.** Let  $([v_{q_p}^0], \mu_1^0 + \mu_2^0) \in U \times (\mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2)$  be such that the conditions 1–3 hold. Because  $\Delta_{\left([v_{q_{\sigma}}^0],\mu_1^0+\mu_2^0\right)}$  is non-degenerate, we can apply the implicit function theorem for the system  $(\partial F/\partial u, G^i)(\tau, [v_{q_e}], \mu_1 + \mu_2) = 0$  around the point  $(0, [v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0 + \mu_2^0)$ and so we can find an open neighborhood  $J \times \mathcal{V}_0$  of the point  $(0, \mu_1^0)$  in  $I \times \mathfrak{m}_1$  and two functions  $u: J \times \mathcal{V}_0 \to U$  and  $\mu_2: J \times \mathcal{V}_0 \to \mathfrak{m}_2$  such that  $u(0, \mu_1^0) = [v_{q_e}^0]$ ,  $\mu_2(0, \mu_1^0) = \mu_2^0$  and

(i) 
$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial u}(\tau, u(\tau, \mu_1), \mu_1 + \mu_2(\tau, \mu_1)) = 0$$

(ii) 
$$G^{i}(\tau, u(\tau, \mu_1), \mu_1 + \mu_2(\tau, \mu_1)) = 0.$$

Therefore, from Theorems 5.15 and 5.16 it follows that the relative equilibrium conditions of Corollary 5.14 are both satisfied. Thus we obtain the following family of branches of relative equilibria  $[(\overline{\sigma}(\tau \cdot u(\tau, \mu_1)), \beta(\tau, \mu_1 + \mu_2(\tau, \mu_1)))]_G$  parameterized by  $\mu_1 \in \mathcal{V}_0$ . For  $\tau > 0$  the isotropy subgroup is trivial and for  $\tau = 0$  the corresponding points on the branches are  $[(\overline{\sigma}([0_{q_e}]), \mu_1]_G = [q_e, \mu_1]_G$  which have the isotropy subgroup equal to  $G_{q_e}$ . This shows that there are points in  $\mathcal{R}_e$  from which there are emerging branches of relative equilibria with broken trivial symmetry. Using now the correspondence given by Proposition 5.3 and a rescaling of  $\tau$  we obtain the desired family of continuous curves  $\hat{\gamma}^{\mu_1}_{\left([v_{a_r}^0],\mu_1^0,\mu_1^0\right)}:[0,1]\to (TQ)/G$  parameterized by  $\mu_1$  in a

small neighborhood  $V_0$  of  $\mu_1^0$  consisting of classes of relative equilibria with trivial isotropy on  $\gamma^{\mu_1}_{\left([v_{q_e}^0],\mu_1^0,\mu_2^0\right)}(0,1)$  and such that

$$\operatorname{Im} \gamma^{\mu_1}_{\left([v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0, \mu_2^0\right)} \bigcap \mathcal{R}_e = \{\gamma^{\mu_1}_{\left([v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0, \mu_2^0\right)}(0)\}$$

and  $\gamma_{\left(\lfloor v_{q_e}^0\rfloor,\mu_1^0,\mu_2^0\right)}^{\mu_1}(0)=[\zeta_Q(q_e)]$ , where  $\zeta=\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}\mu_1$ . Equivalently, using the identification given by (5.16) and by Proposition 5.3 we obtain that the branches of relative equilibria  $\gamma_{\left(\lfloor v_{q_e}^0\rfloor,\mu_1^0,\mu_2^0\right)}^{\mu_1}(\tau)\in (TQ)/G$  are identified with  $[\sigma(\tau\cdot u(\tau,\mu_1)),\beta(\tau,\mu_1+\mu_2(\tau,\mu_1))]_{G_{q_e}}$ . It is easy to see that for  $\mu_1\neq\mu_1'$  we have that  $\beta(\tau,\mu_1+\mu_2(\tau,\mu_1))\neq\beta(\tau',\mu_1'+\mu_2(\tau,\mu_1'))$  for every  $\tau,\tau'\in[0,1]$ . Using now the fact that  $G_{q_e}$  acts trivially on  $m_1$  we obtain

$$\left\{ \left. \gamma^{\mu_1}_{\left( [v^0_{q_e}], \mu^0_1, \mu^0_2 \right)}(\tau) \, \right| \, \tau \in [0, 1] \right\} \bigcap \left\{ \left. \gamma^{\mu'_1}_{\left( [v^0_{q_e}], \mu^0_1, \mu^0_2 \right)}(\tau) \, \right| \, \tau \in [0, 1] \right\} = \varnothing.$$

In an analogous way, using the same argument we can prove (i). For (ii) we start with two branches of relative equilibria,  $b_1(\tau,\overline{\mu}):=[\sigma(\tau\cdot u(\tau,\overline{\mu})),\beta(\tau,\overline{\mu}+\mu_2(\tau,\overline{\mu}))]_{G_{qe}}$  and  $b_2(\tau',\overline{\mu}):=[\sigma(\tau'\cdot u'(\tau',\overline{\mu})),\beta(\tau',\overline{\mu}+\mu_2(\tau,\overline{\mu}))]_{G_{qe}}$ . For  $\tau=\tau'=0$  we have  $b_1(0,\overline{\mu})=[0,\overline{\mu}]_{G_{qe}}=b_2(0,\overline{\mu})$ . We also have  $u(0,\overline{\mu})=[v_{q_e}^0]\neq [v_{q_e}^1]=u'(0,\overline{\mu})$  and so, from the implicit function theorem, we obtain  $u(\tau,\overline{\mu})\neq u'(\tau',\overline{\mu})$  for  $\tau,\tau'>0$  small enough. Suppose that there exist  $\tau,\tau'>0$  such that  $b_1(\tau,\overline{\mu})=b_2(\tau',\overline{\mu})$ . Then using the triviality of the  $G_{q_e}$ -action on  $m_0$  we obtain that  $\tau^2v_0=\tau'^2v_0$  and consequently  $\tau=\tau'$ . The conclusion of (ii) follows now by rescaling.  $\square$ 

**Remark 5.18.** We can have two particular forms for the rescaling  $\beta$  according to special choices of the groups G and  $G_{q_e}$ , respectively. (a) If G is a torus, then from the splitting  $\mathfrak{g}=\mathfrak{k}_0\oplus\mathfrak{k}_1\oplus\mathfrak{k}_2$ , where  $\mathfrak{k}_0=\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ ,  $\mathfrak{k}_0\oplus\mathfrak{k}_1=\mathfrak{t}$ , and  $\mathfrak{k}_2=[\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{t}]$ , we conclude that  $\mathfrak{k}_2=\{0\}$  (since  $\mathfrak{g}=\mathfrak{t}$ ) and consequently  $\mathfrak{m}_2=\{0\}$ . In this case we will obtain the special form for the rescaling  $\beta:I\times\mathfrak{m}_1\to\mathfrak{g}^*$ ,  $\beta(\tau,\mu)=\mu+\tau^2\nu_0$ . (b) If is  $G_{q_e}$  a maximal torus in G, so  $\mathfrak{g}_{q_e}=\mathfrak{t}$ , then the same splitting implies that  $\mathfrak{k}_1=\{0\}$  and consequently  $\mathfrak{m}_1=\{0\}$ . In this case we will obtain the special form for the rescaling  $\beta:I\times\mathfrak{m}_2\to\mathfrak{g}^*$ ,  $\beta(\tau,\mu)=\tau\mu+\tau^2\nu_0$ .

#### 6. Stability of the bifurcating branches of relative equilibria

In this section we shall study the stability of the branches of relative equilibria found in the previous section. We will do this by applying a result of Patrick [16] on  $G_u$ -stability to our situation. First we shortly review this result.

**Definition 6.1.** Let  $z_e$  be a relative equilibrium with velocity  $\xi_e$  and  $J(z_e) = \mu_e$ . We say that  $z_e$  is *formally stable* if  $\mathbf{d}^2(H - J^{\xi_e})(z_e)|_{T_{z_e}J^{-1}(\mu_e)}$  is a positive or negative definite quadratic form on some (and hence any) complement to  $\mathfrak{g}_{\mu_e} \cdot z_e$  in  $T_{z_e}J^{-1}(\mu_e)$ .

We have the following criteria for formal stability.

**Theorem 6.2** (Patrick, 1995). Let  $z_e \in T^*Q$  be a relative equilibrium with momentum value  $\mu_e \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  and base point  $q_e \in Q$ . Assume that  $\mathfrak{g}_{q_e} = \{0\}$ . Then  $z_e$  is formally

stable if and only if  $\mathbf{d}^2 V_{\mu_e}(q_e)$  is positive definite on one (and hence any) complement  $\mathfrak{g}_{\mu_e} \cdot q_e$  in  $T_{q_e}Q$ .

To apply this theorem to our case in order to obtain the formal stability of the relative equilibria on a bifurcating branch we proceed as follows. First notice that if we fix  $\mu \in \mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2$  and  $[v_{q_e}] \in U$  as in Theorem 5.17, we obtain locally a branch of relative equilibria with trivial isotropy bifurcating from our initial set. More precisely, this branch starts at the point

$$\left(\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}\Pi_1\mu\right)_O(q_e).$$

The momentum values along this branch are  $\beta(\tau,\mu)$ , and for  $\tau \neq 0$  the velocities have the expression  $\mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\sigma(\tau u(\tau,\mu_1))^{-1}\beta(\tau,\mu))$ . The base points of this branch are  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\sigma(\tau u(\tau,\mu_1)))$ . Recall from Corollary 5.14 that we introduced the notation  $\overline{\sigma} := \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e} \circ \sigma$  that will be used below. By the definition of  $\beta(\tau,\mu)$  we have  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta(\tau,\mu)} = \mathfrak{t}$  for all  $\tau$ , even for  $\tau = 0$ . The base points for the entire branch have no symmetry for  $\tau > 0$  so we can characterize the formal stability (in our case the  $\mathbb{T}$ -stability) of the whole branch (locally) in terms of Theorem 6.2. We begin by giving sufficient conditions that guarantee the  $\mathbb{T}$ -stability of the branch, since  $G_{\beta(\tau,\mu)} = \mathbb{T}$ . To do this, one needs to find conditions that insure that for  $\tau \neq 0$  (where the amended potential exists)

$$\mathbf{d}^2 V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}(\overline{\sigma}(\tau u(\tau,\mu_1))|_{T_{[\tau u(\tau,\mu_1)]}\overline{\sigma}(T_{[\tau u(\tau,\mu_1)]}U)\oplus (T_{\sigma([\tau u(\tau,\mu_1)])}\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e})(\tilde{\mathfrak{t}}_2\cdot q_e)}$$

is positive definite. We do not know how to control the cross terms of this quadratic form. This is why we shall work only with Abelian groups G since in that case the subspace  $f_2 = \{0\}$  and the second summand in the direct sum thus vanishes. Note that this implies that  $\mathfrak{m}_2 = \{0\}$ .

From now on we assume that G is a torus  $\mathbb{T}$ . By Proposition 5.13 and Theorem 5.15, the second variation

$$\mathbf{d}^2 V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}(\overline{\sigma}(\tau u(\tau,\mu_1))|_{T_{[\tau u(\tau,\mu_1)]}\overline{\sigma}(T_{[\tau u(\tau,\mu_1)]}U)}$$

coincides for  $\tau \neq 0$ , with the second variation

$$\mathbf{d}_{U}^{2} F_{1}(\tau, u(\tau, \mu_{1}), \mu_{1})|_{T_{[\tau u(\tau, \mu_{1})]}U}$$
(6.1)

of the auxiliary function  $F_1$ , where  $\mathbf{d}_U^2$  denotes the second variation relative to the second variable in  $F_1$ . But, unlike  $V_{\beta(\tau,\mu)}$ , the function  $F_1$  is defined even at  $\tau=0$ . The amended potential evaluated on the bifurcating branch of relative equilibria has, by Theorem 5.15, the expression

$$F_1(\tau, u(\tau, \mu_1), \mu_1) = F_0(\mu_1) + \tau^2 F(\tau, u(\tau, \mu_1), \mu_1),$$

where  $F_0$  is smooth on  $\mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e) = \mathbb{I}(q_e)\mathfrak{g}$ , F and  $F_1$  are both smooth functions on  $I \times U \times \mathbf{J}_L(\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)$ , even around  $\tau = 0$ , and we have used the fact that  $\mathfrak{m}_2 = \{0\}$ . So, if the second variation of F at  $(0, [v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0)$  is positive definite, then the quadratic form (6.1) will remain positive definite along the branch for  $\tau > 0$  small. So we get the following result.

**Theorem 6.3.** Let  $\mu_1^0 \in \mathfrak{m}_1$  and  $[v_{q_e}^0] \in U$  be as in the Theorem 5.17 and assume that  $\mathbf{d}_U^2 F(0, [v_{q_e}^0], \mu_1^0)$  is positive definite. Then the branch of relative equilibria with no symmetry which bifurcates form  $(\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}\mu_1^0)_O(q_e)$  is  $\mathbb{T}$ -stable for  $\tau > 0$  small.

A direct application of this criterion to the double spherical pendulum recovers the stability result on the bifurcating branches proved directly in [13].

# 7. Bifurcating branches of relative equilibria with non-trivial isotropy

This section treats the case when the principal stratum of the action has non-trivial symmetry, that is, each point on this stratum has symmetry conjugate to a non-trivial subgroup of *G*. In this case, the amended potential criterion along the emanating branches is not applicable, because each point on such a branch will have non-trivial isotropy. Thus, the final result will be weaker in the sense that only the existence of bifurcating branches of relative equilibria with principal symmetry, as opposed to whole multi-parameter families, will be proved.

## 7.1. Modifications in the Lyapunov–Schmidt procedure

As in the trivial case we begin by constructing a G-invariant tubular neighborhood of the orbit  $G \cdot q_e$  such that the isotropy group of every point in this neighborhood is a subgroup of  $G_{q_e}$ . This follows from the Tube Theorem 4.2. Indeed, let  $B \subset (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  be a  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant open neighborhood of  $O_{q_e} \in (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  such that on the open G-invariant neighborhood  $G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(B)$  of  $G \cdot q_e$ , we have  $(G_{q_e}) \preceq (G_q)$  for every  $q \in G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(B)$ .

We outline now the strategy to prove the existence of a bifurcating branch of relative equilibria with symmetry H corresponding to the principal stratum of the isotropy representation of  $G_{q_e}$  on  $T_{q_e}Q$  from the set of relative equilibria  $t\cdot q_e$ . Note that we do not know a priori which relative equilibrium in  $t\cdot q_e$  will bifurcate. We search for a local bifurcating branch of relative equilibria in the following manner. Take a vector  $v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_H$  and note that  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e}) \in Q$  is a point with symmetry exactly H, that is,  $G_{\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e})} = H$ . Then  $\tau v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_H$ , for  $\tau \in I$ , where I is an open interval containing [0,1]. Also,  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})$  is a smooth path connecting  $q_e$ , the base point of the relative equilibrium in  $t\cdot q_e$  containing the branch of bifurcating relative equilibria, to  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(v_{q_e}) \in Q$ . In addition, we shall impose that the entire path  $\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})$  be formed by base points of relative equilibria. We still need the vector part of these relative equilibria which will be a solution of the momentum

equation

$$\mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))\zeta = \beta(\tau),$$

where  $\beta(\tau)$  is a smooth path in  $g^*$  with  $\beta(0) \in \mathbb{I}(q_e)t$ . Now we shall use the characterization of relative equilibria involving the augmented potential to require that each point on the path  $\zeta_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))$  is a relative equilibrium. As we shall see below, we shall search for  $\beta(\tau)$  of a certain form and then the characterization of relative equilibria via the augmented potential will impose conditions on both  $\beta(\tau)$  and  $v_{q_e}$ .

We begin by specifying the form of  $\beta(\tau)$ . Consider the following rescaling:

$$v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_H \mapsto \tau v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_H$$
  
$$\mu \in \mathfrak{q}^* \mapsto \beta(\tau, \mu) \in \mathfrak{q}^*$$

where,  $\tau \in I$ , I is an open interval containing [0,1], and  $\beta: I \times \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{g}^*$  is chosen such that  $\beta(0,\mu) = \Pi_1 \mu$ . So, for  $(v_{q_e},\mu)$  fixed,  $(\tau v_{q_e},\beta(\tau,\mu))$  converges to  $(0_{q_e},\Pi_1\mu)$  as  $\tau \to 0$ . Define

$$\beta(\tau, \mu) := \Pi_1 \mu + \tau \beta'(\mu) + \tau^2 \beta''(\mu)$$

for some arbitrary smooth functions  $\beta', \beta'' : g^* \to g^*$ . Define

$$\Phi: I \times \left(B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_H\right) \times \mathfrak{g}^* \times \mathfrak{g}_{q_e} \times \mathfrak{t} \to \mathfrak{g}^*$$

$$\Phi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi, \eta) := \mathbb{I}(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))(\xi + \eta) - \beta(\tau, \mu). \tag{7.1}$$

Now we search for the velocity  $\xi + \eta$  of relative equilibria among the solutions of  $\Phi(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu, \xi, \eta) = 0$ . We shall prove below that  $\xi$  and  $\eta$  are smooth functions of  $\tau$ ,  $v_{q_e}$ ,  $\mu$ , in a neighborhood of  $\tau = 0$  and  $v_{q_e}$ ,  $\mu$  arbitrary.

Following the same Lyapunov–Schmidt procedure as in the trivial isotropy case shows that the equation (5.2) has a unique smooth solution for  $\xi + \eta$  in a neighborhood of the point  $(0, v_{q_e}^0, \mu^0) \in I \times (B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_H \setminus \mathcal{Z}) \times \mathfrak{g}^*$  namely

$$\zeta(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu):=\xi(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu)+\eta(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu,\xi(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu)),$$

where the function  $\eta$ , respectively  $\xi$ , is the solution in the first, respectively the second step of the Lyapunov–Schmidt procedure. Comparing with the trivial isotropy case, note that here we have only the existence of the smooth function  $\zeta$ . We also do not have an explicit expression for  $\zeta$  when  $\tau \neq 0$ .

Note that for  $\tau=0$  the solution is  $\zeta_0(v_{q_e}^{'0},\mu^0)+\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}(\Pi_1\mu^0)\in \mathbf{t}$ .

# 7.2. Bifurcating branches of relative equilibria with non-trivial symmetry

At this point we have a candidate for a bifurcating branch from the set of relative equilibria  $t \cdot q_e$ . This branch will start at  $\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu)_Q(q_e) \in t \cdot q_e \subset T_{q_e}Q$ . By Lemma 5.2, the isotropy subgroup of  $\zeta(0, v_{q_e}, \mu)_Q(q_e)$  equals  $G_{q_e}$ , for any  $v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_H \setminus \mathcal{Z}$  around  $v_{q_e}^0$  and  $\mu \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  around  $\mu^0$ . The isotropy groups of the points on the curve  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))$ , for  $\tau \neq 0$ , are all subgroups of H, by construction. Hence  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))$  is a curve that has the properties of the bifurcating branch of relative equilibria with broken symmetry that we are looking for. Later will see that the isotropies of all the points on the branch will be exactly H, for  $\tau > 0$ . We do not know yet that all points on this curve are in fact relative equilibria. Thus, we shall search for conditions on  $v_{q_e}^0$  and  $\mu^0$  that guarantee that each point on the curve  $\tau \mapsto \zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}, \mu)_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}))$  is a relative equilibrium. This will be done by using the augmented potential criterion (see Proposition 3.4).

**Theorem 7.1.** Let  $(Q, \langle\!\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle\!\rangle_Q, V, G)$  be a simple mechanical G-system, with G a compact Lie group with the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Let  $q_e \in Q$  be a symmetric point whose isotropy group  $G_{q_e}$  is contained in a maximal torus  $\mathbb{T}$  of G. Denote by  $\mathfrak{t} \subset \mathfrak{g}$  the Lie algebra of  $\mathbb{T}$ . Let (H) be the principal orbit type of the  $G_{q_e}$ -action on  $T_{q_e}Q$ . Let  $B \subset (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  be a  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant open neighborhood of  $0_{q_e} \in (\mathfrak{g} \cdot q_e)^{\perp}$  such that the exponential map is injective on B and for any  $q \in G \cdot \operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(B)$  the isotropy subgroup  $G_q$  is conjugate to a (not necessarily proper) subgroup of  $G_{q_e}$ . Define the closed  $G_{q_e}$ -invariant subset  $\mathcal{Z} =: \{v_{q_e} \in B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_H \mid \det A = 0\}$ , where the entries of the matrix A are given in (5.12). Let  $J \times V_{v_{q_e}}^0 \times W_{\mu^0} \subset I \times B \cap (T_{q_e}Q)_H \setminus \mathcal{Z} \times \mathfrak{m}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{m}_2$  be a open neighborhood of  $(0, v_{q_e}^0, \mu^0)$ , where  $\mu^0 \in \mathfrak{m}_1$  is chosen such that  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta(\tau,\mu)} = \mathfrak{t}$  for  $\tau \in J$  and  $\mu \in W_{\mu^0}$ . Define  $F: J \times V_{v_{q_e}^0} \times W_{\mu^0} \to T^*Q$  by

$$F(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu):=\mathbf{d}V_{\zeta(\tau,v_{q_e},\mu)}(\mathrm{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e})).$$

If  $\partial F/\partial (v_{q_e}, \mu)(0, v_{q_e}^0, \mu^0)$  is non-degenerate then there exists a continuous curve  $\gamma_{(v_{q_e}^0, \mu^0)}: [0, 1] \to TQ$  which starts at the point  $(\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}(\Pi_1\mu^0))_Q(q_e) \in \mathfrak{t} \cdot q_e$  at  $\tau = 0$  and consists of relative equilibria all having broken symmetry H for  $\tau > 0$ .

**Proof.** Because each point in  $t \cdot q_e$  is a relative equilibrium, it follows that  $q_e$  is a critical point of the augmented potential and so  $\partial F/\partial(v_{q_e},\mu)(0,v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0)$  can be expressed in terms of the Hessian of the augmented potential. The matrix  $\partial F/\partial(v_{q_e},\mu)(0,v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0)$  is a square matrix of dimension  $n=\dim Q$  because  $\dim V_{v_{q_e}^0}=n-\dim (\mathfrak{g}\cdot q_e)$ , as H is the symmetry of the principal stratum of the  $G_{q_e}$ -representation on  $T_{q_e}Q$  and hence  $(T_{q_e}Q)_H$  is open in  $T_{q_e}Q$ ,  $B\subset (\mathfrak{g}\cdot q_e)^\perp$ , and  $\dim W_{\mu^0}=\dim (\mathfrak{m}_1\oplus \mathfrak{m}_2)=\dim \mathfrak{g}-\dim \mathfrak{g}-\dim \mathfrak{g}-\dim \mathfrak{g}_{q_e}$ .

The non-degeneracy of  $\partial F/\partial (v_{q_e},\mu)(0,v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0)$  implies the existence of an open neighborhood  $U_1\times U_2\times U_3\subset J\times V_{v_{q_e}^0}\times W_{\mu^0}$  around the point  $(0,v_{q_e}^0,\mu^0)$  and of a

smooth map  $\tau \in U_1 \mapsto (v_{q_e}(\tau), \mu(\tau)) \in U_2 \times U_3$  such that  $(v_{q_e}(0), \mu(0)) = (v_{q_e}^0, \mu^0)$  and for any  $\tau \in U_1$ 

$$F(\tau, v_{q_e}(\tau), \mu(\tau)) = 0.$$

This identity shows that the branch of vectors

$$\tau \in U_1 \mapsto (\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}(\tau), \mu(\tau))_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}(\tau))) \in TQ$$

consists of relative equilibria. It is clear that this branch intersects the initial set of relative equilibria  $t \cdot q_e$  only in  $(\widehat{\mathbb{I}}(q_e)^{-1}(\Pi_1\mu^0))_Q(q_e)$ . By construction, all these vectors have symmetry included in H for  $\tau \neq 0$ . We know that all of them are relative equilibria with velocities  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}(\tau), \mu(\tau)) \in \mathfrak{g}_{\beta(\tau, \mu(\tau))}$  which, by hypothesis, equals t.

To show that all points on these branches have isotropy subgroup exactly H, we recall that for any  $q \in Q$  and  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$  the isotropy of the vector  $\xi_Q(q) \in T_qQ$  equals

$$G_{\xi_O(q)} = \{ g \in G_q \mid \operatorname{Ad}_g \xi - \xi \in \mathfrak{g}_q \}. \tag{7.2}$$

Indeed, since  $(\operatorname{Ad}_g \xi)_Q(q) = g \cdot \xi_Q(g^{-1} \cdot q)$  and  $G_{\xi_Q(q)} \subset G_q$ , the condition  $g \cdot \xi_Q(q) = \xi_Q(q)$  is equivalent to  $(\operatorname{Ad}_g \xi)_Q(q) = \xi_Q(q)$ , that is,  $(\operatorname{Ad}_g \xi - \xi)_Q(q) = 0$ , which is equivalent to  $\operatorname{Ad}_g \xi - \xi \in \mathfrak{g}_q$  which proves (7.2). Therefore,

$$\begin{split} G_{(\zeta(\tau,v_{q_e}(\tau),\mu(\tau))_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}(\tau)))} \\ &= \{g \in H \mid \operatorname{Ad}_g \zeta(\tau,v_{q_e}(\tau),\mu(\tau)) - \zeta(\tau,v_{q_e}(\tau),\mu(\tau)) \in \mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}(\tau))} = \mathfrak{h}\} \end{split}$$

by (7.2). Since H, as a subgroup of  $\mathbb{T}$ , acts trivially by the adjoint representation on t and the element  $\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}(\tau), \mu(\tau)) \in t$ , this shows that  $G_{(\zeta(\tau, v_{q_e}(\tau), \mu(\tau))_Q(\operatorname{Exp}_{q_e}(\tau v_{q_e}(\tau))))} = H$ .

Now, using a rescaling, we can suppose that the curve  $\gamma$  is defined on the interval [0, 1] and hence the conclusion of the theorem follows.  $\Box$ 

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank J. Montaldi for telling us the result of Proposition 5.1 and for many discussions that have influenced our presentation and clarified various points during the writing of this paper. Conversations with A. Hernández and J. Marsden are also gratefully acknowledged. The third and fourth authors were partially supported by the European Commission and the Swiss Federal Government through funding for the Research Training Network *Mechanics and Symmetry in Europe* (MASIE). The first and third author thank the Swiss National Science Foundation for partial support.

#### References

- R. Abraham, J.E. Marsden, Foundations of Mechanics, Second ed., Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA, 1979
- [2] R. Abraham, J.E. Marsden, T.S. Ratiu, Manifolds, Tensor Analysis, and Applications, Applied Mathematical Sciences, vol. 75, Springer, Berlin, 1988.
- [3] G.E. Bredon, Introduction to Compact Transformation Groups, Academic Press, New York, 1972.
- [4] J.J. Duistermaat, J.A. Kolk, Lie Groups, Universitext, Springer, Berlin, 1999.
- [5] V. Guillemin, A. Pollack, Differential Topology, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1974.
- [6] A. Hernández-Garduño, J.E. Marsden, Regularization of the amended potential and the bifurcation of relative equilibria, 2002, preprint.
- [7] K. Kawakubo, The Theory of Transformations Groups, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1991.
- [9] P. Libermann, C.-M. Marle, Symplectic Geometry and Analytical Mechanics, Reidel, Dordrecht, 1987.
- [10] J.E. Marsden, Lectures on Geometric Methods in Mathematical Physics, vol. 37, SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, 1981.
- [11] J.E. Marsden, Lectures on Mechanics, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, vol. 174, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [12] J.E. Marsden, T.S. Ratiu, Introduction to Mechanics and Symmetry, Texts in Applied Mathematics, vol. 17, second ed., second printing, Springer, Berlin, 2003.
- [13] J.E. Marsden, J. Scheurle, Lagrangian reduction and the double spherical pendulum, ZAMP 44 (1993) 17–43.
- [15] J.-P. Ortega, T.S. Ratiu, Momentum Maps and Hamiltonian Reduction, Progress in Mathematics, vol. 222, Birkhäuser, Boston, 2003.
- [16] G. Patrick, Two Axially Symmetric Coupled Rigid Bodies: Relative Equilibria, Stability, Bifurcations, and a Momentum Preserving Symplectic Integrator, Ph.D. Thesis, UC Berkeley, 1991.
- [17] M.J. Pflaum, Analytic and Geometric Study of Stratified Spaces, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 510, Springer, Berlin, 2001.
- [18] M. Puta, Hamiltonian Mechanical Systems and Geometric Quantization, Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 260, Kluwer, Dordrecht, 1993.
- [19] J.C. Simo, D. Lewis, J.E. Marsden, The stability of relative equilibria. Part I: the reduced energy-momentum method, Arch. Ration. Mech. 115 (1991) 15–59.